Liberty University

**The Graduate School** 

**College of Health Sciences** 

# THE REGULATION OF IRS-1 VIA P70 S6K-1 AND P300 ACTIVITY

A Dissertation in

Cellular Biology

by Vhuthuhawe T. Madzinge

© 2023 Vhuthuhawe T. Madzinge

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

May 2023

The dissertation of Vhuthuhawe T. Madzinge was reviewed and approved\* by the following:

Jeremiah N. Winter Professor of Biology Director *of* Biochemistry & Molecular Biology Chair of Committee Dissertation Advisor

Gary D. Isaacs Professor of Biology

Gregory M. Raner Professor of Biology

#### ABSTRACT

The study of IRS-1 has increased over the years due to the prevalence of cardiometabolic diseases. An increase in IRS-1 serine phosphorylation is often associated with the development of insulin resistance due to the downregulation bestowed upon it by different kinases such as p70 S6K-1. Recently, p300 has been shown to acetylate IRS-1 thus leading to its downregulation. However, studies have not looked into the relationship that exists between serine phosphorylation and lysine acetylation of IRS-1. In this study, insulin stimulated HepG2 cells were treated with either PF4708671, a selective p70 S6K-1 inhibitor, or C646, a selective p300 inhibitor. PF4708671 treatment led to the successful dose dependent decrease in the phosphorylation of S312, S636/639, and S1101 on IRS-1. Treatment with 10µM of C646 did successfully decrease p300 activity. By inhibiting p300 activity there was a decrease in S312 and S1101 phosphorylation. The inhibition of p300 also led to an exponential increase in the activation of insulin stimulated RPS6, thus meaning that there was an increase in IRS-1 insulin signaling. Thus, p300 inhibition prevents the phosphorylation of the negative regulatory sites S312 and S1101. In addition, p300 activity enhances the phosphorylation of S1101, while the overall phosphorylation by p70 S6K-1 enhances the overall acetylation of IRS-1. There is a connection that exists between the acetylation and serine phosphorylation of IRS-1 and further research will need to be done to narrow down the exact mechanism. Together we elucidate that the inability of p300 to acetylate IRS-1 leads to a decrease in the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S312 and S1101 in insulin stimulated HepG2.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

List	List of Tables and Figures	
List	of Abbreviations	xi
Ackr	nowledgments	xiii
Chap	oter I Introduction	1
1.1	Overview of IRS-1	2
	- Discovery and history	2
	- Normal physiology of insulin action	3
	- The structure of IRS-1	4
1.2	The metabolic and mitogenic effects of IRS-1 signaling	5
	- AKT signaling	5
	- mTORC1 signaling	6
	- S6K-1 signaling	8
1.3	IRS-1 regulation	9
	- Kinase dependent positive regulation of IRS-1	9
	- Kinase dependent negative regulation of IRS-1	12
1.4	Dysregulation of IRS-1 and the progression of insulin resistance	16
1.5	mTORC1 and S6K-1 signaling in relation to IRS	17
1.6	p300 Overview	18
	- History and structure	18

- Regulation of p300		19
- Acetyltransferase Activity on IRS-1		21
1.7 Introduction to Dissertation		22
- Purpose of Study		22
- Aims		23
1.8 Figures and Legends		24
Chapter II. Materials and Methods		36
2.1 Table1: Primary antibodies and recombinant proteins		37
2.2 Cell Culture		38
2.3 Dose Response		38
- S6K-1 Inhibition		38
- p300 Inhibition		38
2.4 Western Blot		
2.5 Proteins Assays		
- In vitro Kinase Assay		40
- In vitro HAT Assay		40
2.6 Supplementary Material41		
- AKT1 Inhibition		41
- p70 S6K-1 stimulation by insulin		41
- p70 S6K1 Site-Directed Mutagenesis		42
2.7 Figure and Legends		43

Chapte	er III	The enhancement of the acetylation and phosphorylation of IRS-1	44
4.1 Introduction 45			
4.2 Re	esults		47
3.2.1	PF4708671 selectively inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to negative regulation 47 of RPS6 in a dose dependent manner		47
3.2.2	2 PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation 47 of S1101 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent manner		47
3.2.3	3 PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation48of S312 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent manner		48
3.2.4	4PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation48of S636/S639 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent manner48		
3.2.5	5 C646 inhibits p300, thus reducing the acetylation of H3 at K9 and K14 49 in a dose dependent manner		49
3.2.6	.6 Inhibition of p300 leads to reduced phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101 and S312 in a dose dependent manner		50
3.2.7	.7 The absence of p300 activity did not change the phosphorylation status 50 of IRS-1 S636/639		50
3.2.8	.8 Inhibiting p300 via C646 increases p70 S6K-1 activity but reduces 51 phosphorylation of S6K1 specific sites on IRS-1		51
3.2.9	p300 enhances the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101 by p70 S6K1, but not 51 S636/639		51
3.2.10	Supplemen	ntary Results	52
3.2.10	.1 AK	XT1 Dose Response	52
3.2.10	.2 p70	0 S6K-1 stimulation by insulin	52
3.2.10	.3 p70	p70 S6K-1 Site Directed Mutagenesis	
3.2.11 Figures and figure legends 54			54

Ch	apter IV	Discussion	70
4.1	p70 S6K-1 directl of S636/639 and S	y phosphorylates S1101 but only promotes the phosphorylation 3312	71
4.2	p70 S6K-1 indired	ctly regulates S312 phosphorylation	72
4.3	p70 S6K-1 indired	ctly regulates S636/639 phosphorylation	74
4.4	p70 S6K-1 directl	y regulates S1101 phosphorylation	75
4.5	Inhibition of p70 S	S6K-1 decreases basal phosphorylation of S1101	76
4.6	Inhibiting p300 fr of S312 and S110	om acetylating IRS-1 leads to a decrease in the phosphorylation 1 without a decrease in p70 S6K-1, but not S636.	77
4.7	The Acetylation o by p70 S6K-1	f IRS-1 by p300 enhances IRS-1 S1101 phosphorylation	79
4.8	Conclusions and H	Future Perspectives	80
	References		85

# LIST OF FIGURES

# Chapter I

Figure 1.	Insulin Posttranslational modifications	24
Figure 2.	The interaction of IRS-1 and the IR	25
Figure 3.	AKT signaling	26
Figure 4.	The activation of mTORC1	27
Figure 5.	mTORC1 signaling	28
Figure 6.	S6K-1 signaling	29
Figure 7.	IRS-1 Regulation	30
Figure 8.	The Dysregulation of IRS-1	31
Figure 9.	p300 Domain	32
Figure 10.	p300 phosphorylation sites	33
Figure 11.	IRS-1 model structure	34
Figure 12.	H3 phosphorylation and acetylation	35
Chapter II		
Table 1.	Primary antibodies and recombinant proteins	37
Figure 13.	Site-Directed Mutagenesis and Transformation	43
Chapter III		

Figure 14.	PF4708671 selectively inhibits insulin stimulated p70S6K-1, negatively regulating RPS6 phosphorylation in a dose depende	55 ent manner
Figure 15.	PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation of S1101 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent manner.	56 er
Figure 16.	PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation of S312 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent manner	58
Figure 17.	PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation of 636/S639 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent ma	59 Inner
Figure 18.	C646 inhibits p300, thus reducing the acetylation of H3 at K9 and K14 in a dose dependent manner	60
Figure 19.	Inhibition of p300 leads to reduced phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101 in a dose dependent manner	61
Figure 20.	Inhibition of p300 leads to reduced phosphorylation of IRS-1 S312 in a dose dependent manner	62
Figure 21.	Inhibition of p300 does not reduce the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S636/S639	63
Figure 22.	C646 treatment leads to the positive regulation of RPS6	64
Figure 23	p300 activity does enhance the phosphorylation of IRS-1 by p70 S6K1 in vitro	65
Figure 24.	S6K-1 does not directly phosphorylate S636	66
Figure 25.	p70 S6K1 activity has no effect on the acetylation status of IRS-1	67

Figure 26.	MK2206 inhibition AKT S473 in a dose dependent manner	68
Figure 27.	p70 S6K-1 band shift as a representation of phosphorylation	69
Figure 28.	p70 S6K-1 mutant constructs	70

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AKT	protein kinase B
BARK1	β-adrenergic receptor kinase-1
CamKIV	Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV
CBP	cyclic AMP response element-binding protein
CREB	cyclic AMP response element-binding
ERK	extracellular signal-regulated kinase
ET-1	Endothelin-1
GNC5	general control non-repressed protein
GRK2	G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2
GSK3	glycogen synthase kinase-3
НАТ	histone acetyltransferase
HFD	High fat diet
IKK	IkappaB kinase
IR	Insulin receptor
IRS-1	Insulin receptor substrate 1
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal Kinase
KAT	lysine acetyltransferase
mTROC1	mammalian/mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1
NLS	Nuclear localization signal
P 70 S6K-1	Ribosomal protein S6 kinase beta-1
P300	E1A binding protein p300
PDK	phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase -1
PH	Pleckstrin homology
РІЗК	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PIP3	phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate
РКС	protein kinase c
PP1	protein phosphatase 1

PTB	Phosphotyrosine binding
RING	really interesting new gene
ROCK1	rho-associated coiled-coil containing protein kinase 1
Snf1	sucrose non-fermenting
TCS	Tuberous sclerosis complex
ΤΝΓ-α	tumor necrosis factor-alpha

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank God for giving me the grace to accomplish what I started with zeal, strength, and determination. I also praise God that even though the ending was drawn out, humbling, and met with days of desiring to quit, He saw me through and sent the right people to help me follow through.

I would like to thank my PI, Dr. Jeremiah Winter. You have been such a good example of the type of professor I would like to be. You did not give up on me even when I gave up on myself at times and for that, I am so grateful. You exude Godly character in all you do and that is admirable. There are times I would walk out of your office completely motivated and there are times I walked thinking that I am done with the Ph.D. and desiring instead to be a housewife and stay at home mom. However, in my inconsistency, you continued in your encouragement and uplifting emails. God bless you. Lastly, thank you for all the skills you have taught me.

I would like to thank Dr. Gary Isaacs for all the advice and guidance you gave me. You challenged my way of thinking to make me a better researcher. What I have learned from you is invaluable. Thank you for helping me with protocols I had never done before and for your research team (Mariko, Janny, Phoebe, Maggie, Jessie, and Felice). They were such a big support and source of good conversation and insight.

I would like to thank Dr. Ben Kalu for sparking my interest in research. When I worked with you, I became more well-rounded in my approach to research. Through your mentorship, I became very good at presenting my work and relaying the relevance of my research to different audiences.

I would like to thank Dr. McGuirt for all the spiritual guidance you would give.

Lastly, I would like to thank my family. Thank you, Mom and Dad, for funding my education till I obtained a scholarship. I am blessed to be graduating college debt free. I will never forget when I told Dad in 3<sup>rd</sup> grade that I wanted to go to Liberty University and he said, "I don't where this university is but even if I am unable to afford it, God will make a way. Dream big, God will make a way". God did make a way! Thank you, Mom, for buying my first laptop, it may not seem like a lot, but it meant the world to me, especially because at the time it was all you had. You have shown me that as parents you will sacrifice almost anything to make sure I am well taken care of. I will never forget your sacrifice and they will not be in vain.

Thank you Lutendo, Tshifhiwa, and Khathutshelo for being the most awesome brothers ever. Growing up you would all make sure that I got the best. You would constantly call me more than beautiful (mathase), and that would always give me the confidence to not seek approval of my image because my brothers called me beautiful. Khathutshelo, thank you for instilling in me the mindset of pursuing God in everything I wanted in life.

I saved the best for last, my lovely husband. Jordan, even though you came into my life later than the rest of my family, you are the most important. I cannot express how much you mean to me. You have built me up throughout this program. So many times, I felt insufficient and inadequate you would affirm me. When I was failing to be the wife that I have always desired to be because of late nights at school and my pregnancy, you adjust and covered for me where I fell short. You were super supportive even as I carried your child and still progressed to work. When I wanted to quit due to Amato's birth you were my rock that get me grounded to finish what I started. Thank you, babe. I love you and will forever praise God for you!

# The regulation of IRS1 via S6K-1 and p300 activity

Chapter 1 Introduction

- 1.1 Overview of p300
  - Discovery and history
  - Normal physiology of insulin action
  - The structure of IRS-1
- 1.2 The metabolic and mitogenic effects of IRS-1 signaling
  - AKT signaling
  - mTORC1 signaling
  - S6K-1 signaling
- 1.3 IRS-1 regulation
  - Kinase dependent positive regulation of IRS-1
  - Kinase dependent negative regulation of IRS-1
- 1.4 Dysregulation of IRS-1 and the progression of insulin resistance
- 1.5 mTORC1 and S6K-1 signaling in relation to IRS
- 1.6 p300 Overview
  - History and structure
  - Regulation of p300
  - Acetyltransferase Activity on IRS-1
- 1.7 Introduction to Dissertation
  - Purpose of Study
  - Aims
- 1.8 Figures and Legends

# Chapter 2 Materials and Methods

- 2.1 Table 1: Materials
- 2.2 Cell Culture
- 2.3 Dose Response
  - S6K-1 Inhibition
  - p300 Inhibition
- 2.4 Western Blot

# 2.5 Proteins Assays

- In vitroIn vitro Kinase Assay
- In vitroIn vitro HAT Assay
- In vitroIn vitro Mixed Assay
- 2.6 Immunoprecipitation of IRS-1 acetylation
- 2.7 Methods performed for future research
  - Dose Response
  - AKT1 Inhibition
  - p70 S6K-1 stimulation by insulinp70 S6K1 Site Directed Mutagenesis

# 2.8 Figure and Legends

- 3 Chapter 3 p300 enhances the phosphorylation of IRS-1 on specific sites by p70 S6K-
  - 1

#### 3.1 Introduction

#### 3.2 Results

- 3.2.1 PF4708671 selectively inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to negative regulation of RPS6 is a dose dependent manner
- 3.2.2 PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation of S1101 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent manner
- 3.2.3 PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation of S312 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent manner
- 3.2.4 PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation of S636/S639 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent manner
- 3.2.5 C646 inhibits p300, thus reducing the acetylation of H3 at K9 and K14 in a dose dependent manner
- 3.2.6 Inhibition of p300 leads to reduced phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101 and S312 in a dose dependent manner
- 3.2.7 The absence of p300 activity did not change the phosphorylation status of IRS-1 S636/639
- 3.2.8 Inhibiting p300 via C646 increases p70 S6K-1 activity but reduces phosphorylation of S6K1 specific sites on IRS-1
- 3.2.9 p300 enhances the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101 by p70 S6K1, but not S636/639
- 3.2.10 Preliminary Results for Future Research
- 3.2.10.1 AKT1 Dose Response
- 3.2.10.2 p70 S6K-1 stimulation by insulin
- 3.2.10.3 p70 S6K-1 Site Directed Mutagenesis

# 4 Chapter 4

### 4.1 Discussion

- 4.1.1 p70 S6K-1 directly phosphorylates S1101 but only promotes the phosphorylation of S636/639 and S312
- 4.1.2 p70 S6K-1 indirectly regulates S312 phosphorylation
- 4.1.3 p70 S6K-1 indirectly regulates S636/639 phosphorylation
- 4.1.4 p70 S6K-1 directly regulates S1101 phosphorylation
- 4.1.5 Inhibition of p70 S6K-1 decreases basal phosphorylation of S1101
- 4.1.6 Inhibiting p300 from acetylating IRS-1 leads to a decrease in the phosphorylation of S312 and S1101 without a decrease in p70 S6K-1, but not S636.
- 4.1.7 The Acetylation of IRS-1 by p300 enhances IRS-1 S1101 phosphorylation by p70 S6K-1.
- 4.2 Conclusions and Future perspectives

# 4.3 Bibliography

#### Introduciton

#### 1.1 Overview of IRS-1

1.1

#### Discovery and history

The discovery of insulin in 1921 paved thea way for the discovery of the insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1), a 185kD protein related to insulin signaling in 1985<sup>-1</sup>. This initial discovery led to the understanding that IRS-1 is directly phosphorylated on some of its tyrosines by the insulin receptor (IR), which is a heterotetrameric-membrane-bound tyrosine kinase receptor, in 1987<sup>-1.2</sup>. Following this, an important discovery was made which revealed that IRS-1 obtained maximal tyrosine phosphorylation merely 30 seconds after insulin stimulation. However, this maximal effect iswas diminished in half after 4hrs of continuous stimulation, while the phosphorylation status of IR remains unaffected <sup>3</sup>. While this discovery may have not seemed significant at the time, it pointed to further intracellular components that were responsible for indirectly regulating insulin signaling via IRS-1 posttranslational modifications, further revealing pertinent components in the understanding of metabolic diseases such as diabetes. Between 1989 and 1997, IRS-1 negative regulation by serine/threonine phosphorylation was discovered, and later in 1997 the elevation in serine/threonine phosphorylation was linked to insulin resistance, an important indicator of Type 2 diabetes <sup>4</sup>.

# Normal physiology of insulin action

Insulin is a peptide hormone that binds to membrane-bound receptors that are typically distant from the site of its synthesis, the pancreas. The pancreas is an organ located in the left hypochondriac region of the abdomen together with the spleen, colon, and superior region of the left kidney.<sup>7</sup> The pancreas has both endocrine and exocrine functions that are not equally distributed throughout the entire pancreas. While most of the pancreas is dedicated to exocrine function, a very small section composed of a cluster of islets of Langerhans makes up the endocrine portion of the pancreas. The islets of Langerhans consist of five distinct cells types that secrete five different hormones. The cell types are nameds after the first, second, fourth, fifth, and twentieth letters of the Greek alphabet: alpha, beta, delta, epsilon, and upsilon. The hormones produced by these cell types are glucagon, insulin, somatostatin, ghrelin, and pancreatic polypeptide, respectively.<sup>8</sup> Additionally, tThe beta cells are also known to produce amylin. <sup>8</sup>

While there are relatively fewAs few as the islets of Langerhans are, the beta cells of the pancreas can initiate the production of at least 6000 preproinsulin molecules from mRNA in a second. Preproinsulin is later modified to proinsulin upon the removal of a signal peptide (it is suggested to be the signal that translocates the entire molecule to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER)) on its N terminus, which allows for the effective folding of proinsulin at the ER.<sup>8,9</sup> Further post-translational modifications occur in the ER including the cleavage of the C-peptide domain by endopeptidases, which leaves 2 fragments of proinsulin: the  $\alpha$ -chain and the  $\beta$ -chain.

Both fragments are bonded parallel to each other by disulfide bond formation from two cysteine pairs thus making what we now call mature insulin. <sup>9,10</sup> Mature insulin and C-peptide are

transported to the Golgi apparatus where they are packaged in secretory granules <sup>10</sup> awaiting calcium-dependent intracellular influx which will initiate the exocytosis of the secretory vesicles. The mature insulin is secreted into the blood simultaneously with C-peptide and transported through the blood to membrane-bound receptors to elicit an anabolic response. <sup>8-10</sup> Its secretion into the blood is stimulated mainly by increased blood sugar. However, free fatty acids, amino acids, and other nutrients can stimulate its release too. Once released insulin regulates metabolic mitogenic processes that affect tissues such as the liver, adipose tissue, and muscles . (Figure 1).

#### The structure of IRS-1

The structure and function of IRS-1 can be understood by comparing its relationship with insulin and the IR. Insulin is secreted by the pancreas throughout the bloodstream to various tissue types. After insulin is secreted into the blood it is transported to the target site where it binds to the IR. As mentioned before, the IR is a heterotetrameric-membrane-bound tyrosine kinase receptor and contains two  $\alpha$  and two  $\beta$  subunits. Insulin binds to the  $\alpha$  subunits that are exposed on the extracellular portion of the cell membrane, while the membrane-spanning  $\beta$  subunits undergo a conformational change that transmits signals intracellularly <sup>5,6</sup>. (Figure 2) Consequently, the activation loop of IR contained within the  $\beta$  subunits undergoes transautophosphorylation on tyrosine residues Y1162, Y1158, and Y1163 <sup>5,6</sup>. These residues are NXPY motifs, tyrosine phosphorylation recognition elements, that bind to the phospho-tyrosine binding (PTB) domains of other proteins. When these sites are transphosphorylated it leads to the auto-phosphorylation of Y972 <sup>7,8</sup>. The structure of IRS-1 allows for its recruitment to the plasma membrane, anchoring, and activation via the IR. IRS-1 contains a pleckstrin-homology (PH) domain on its N-terminus followed by a PTB domain and a C-terminus rich in tyrosine phosphorylation sites . (Figure 2). Initially, IRS-1 is recruited due to its recognition of the phosphorylated IR NXPY motifs, <sup>9,10</sup> then it is bound to the auto-phosphorylated Y972 of IR via its PTB domain. <sup>11</sup> IRS-1 is then anchored to the cellular membrane by the PH domain due to the production of phosphoinositide 3,4,5-trisphosphate (PIP3) by phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K) <sup>11</sup>. Lastly, the YXXM motifs contained within the C-terminus, specifically Y465, Y612, Y632, Y941, and Y989 <sup>12</sup> are phosphorylated by IR creating a docking site for the SH2 domain found on the regulatory subunit (p85) of PI3K. PI3K also contains a catalytic subunit (p110) that propagates further downstream insulin signaling. <sup>11</sup>

# 1.2 The metabolic and mitogenic effects of IRS-1 signaling

#### The metabolic and mitogenic effects of IRS-1 signaling: AKT signaling

The outcomes of IRS-1 signaling are either metabolic or mitogenic. Most of these outcomes occur due to the activation of PI3K. When activated, PI3K adds a phosphate to phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) to produce phosphatidylinositol 3, 4, 5-trisphosphate (PIP3) <sup>13</sup>. Subsequently, PIP3 recruits protein kinase B (PKB/AKT), an important indirect regulator of IRS-1, and phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase -1 (PDK-1) to the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane due to the PH domain on both AKT and PDK-1. Upon their recruitment, PDK-1 phosphorylates AKT at T308 on the activation loop, while mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 2 (mTORC2) phosphorylates AKT at S473 on the hydrophobic

motif <sup>14-16</sup>. AKT then directly initiates mitogenic responses such as cell growth and differentiation by inhibiting proteins involved in the inhibition of the cell cycle <sup>17</sup>. Akt specifically inhibits glycogen synthase kinase (GSK) 3β via phosphorylation to prevent apoptosis <sup>18</sup>. The metabolic effects of AKT activation include inhibition of gluconeogenesis via direct phosphorylation of FOXO1, promotion of glycogen and fatty acid synthesis via the inhibition of GSK-3, promotion of fatty acid synthesis via the direction activation of SREBP-1 <sup>19,20</sup>, and promotion of glucose uptake by glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT4) via the direct phosphorylation of AKT substrate of 160 kDa (AS160), a Rab-GTPase activating protein, and TBC1 domain family, member 1 (TBC1D1) <sup>17,21</sup>. The activation of TBC1D1 also further elicits the mitogenic response initiated by IRS-1 activation such as cell growth and differentiation <sup>21</sup> (Figure 3) . The aforementioned mitogenic and metabolic downstream targets of AKT effects are heavily affected by the dysregulation of IRS.

# The metabolic and mitogenic effects of IRS-1 signaling: mTORC1 signaling

AKT phosphorylation leads to the activation of mTORC1 (mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1), a complex with kinase activity that not only promotes further metabolic and mitogenic pathways but is also an important direct regulator of IRS-1. To activate mTORC1, AKT initially phosphorylates tuberous sclerosis complex 2 (TSC2), also known as tuberin, which results in its dissociation from hamartin (TSC1). This action activates mTORC1 since the TSC1-TSC2 complex inhibits mTORC1 indirectly by functioning as a GTPase activating protein (GAP) to catalyze the conversion of Rheb-GTP to Rheb-GDP <sup>22,23</sup>. Rheb-GTP serves to directly stimulate mTORC1 activity (Figure 4)

mTORC1 is a serine/threonine-protein kinase complex that functions as a nutrient/energy sensor that promotes and regulates translation and protein synthesis. It exists as a complex composed of 3 main components: mTOR, Raptor, and G\u03b3L (also known as mLSTB8 - mammalian lethal with Sec13 protein 8). Raptor is the regulatory protein associated with mTOR. It facilitates substrate recruitment of mTORC1 by binding the TOR signaling (TOS) motif found on several canonical mTORC1 substrates. Additionally, it is required for correct subcellular localization of mTORC1. GβL (G protein beta subunit-like) is known to associate with the catalytic domain of mTORC1 and may stabilize the kinase activation loop. mTORC1 has two 2 inhibitory subunits: Prolinerich AKT substrate of 40kDa (PRAS40) and DEP domain-containing mTOR interacting protein (DEPTOR). AKT does not only inhibit the association of TSC1 and TSC2, which prevents the formation of the inhibitory TSC-TSC2 complex, but it also inhibits PRAS40 thus leading to the activation of mTORC1. Although Rheb is an essential activator of mTORC1, exactly how Rheb stimulates mTORC1 is not completely understood. Some have postulated that mTORC1 can be phosphorylated at 2448 by AKT, which is indicative of its catalytic activity, however, this view is not supported as it has been shown to be an inadequate measurement of activity  $^{24}$ .

mTORC1 signaling is mainly associated with cell growth and proliferation via the following processes: lipogenesis, nucleotide synthesis, ribosome biogenesis, mRNA translation, proteogenesis, and the inhibition of autophagy <sup>25</sup>. Once active, mTORC1 prepares eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E - binding protein 1, also called 4E-BP1, for inactivation by directly phosphorylating T37 and T46. S65 and T70 are subsequently phosphorylated by mTORC1 to promote the dissociation of 4E-BP1 from eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (eIF4E). As a result, eIF4E is released and allowed to assemble with eIF4G1, eIF4A, and eIF4B1 at the 5' cap of mRNA to initiate translation which subsequently leads to protein synthesis <sup>26,27</sup>. mTORC1 inhibits autophagy via phosphorylation of Unc-51 like kinase-1 (ULK1) at S758 which leads to the inability of adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) to activate ULK1 via phosphorylation at S317. mTORC1 also inhibits autophagy via phosphorylation of autophagy-related 14 (ATG14). mTORC1 indirectly activates sterol regulatory element-binding proteins (SREPB) <sup>27</sup>, a protein that is known to promote the synthesis of endogenous cholesterol, fatty acids, triacylglycerol, and phospholipid synthesis <sup>28</sup>, by directly phosphorylating Lipin-1 . (Figure 54). Furthermore, mTORC1 promotes nucleotide synthesis, ribosome biogenesis, and elongation during translation by directly phosphorylating S6K-1 at T389 <sup>27</sup>.

### The metabolic and mitogenic effects of IRS-1 signaling: S6K-1 signaling

p70 S6K-1 is transcribed from a gene called RPS6KB1 on chromosome 17, not to be confused with RPS6KB2 found on chromosome 11, which encodes for S6K-2. RPS6KB1 codes for 3 isoforms of S6K-1, S6K $\alpha$ I, S6K $\alpha$ II, and p31 S6K-1, each with distinct functions. S6K $\alpha$ II is infamously known as p70 S6K-1 due to its size, while S6K $\alpha$ I is known as p85 S6K-1. Both these isoforms are identical in sequence, yet S6K $\alpha$ I does not contain the first 23 amino acids seen in S6K $\alpha$ II <sup>29</sup>. p31 S6K-1 contains 31 amino acids and is only similar to p85 S6K-1 as it pertains to function. Even though p85 S6K-1 has a nuclear localization signal (NLS) and p70 S6K-1 does not, p85 S6K-1 and p70 S6K-1 are often confused with each other due to their involvement in the mTORC1 signaling pathway. They contain an 80-90 amino-acid-long PDZ domain located on the C terminus (given its acronym from the first 3 proteins known to have this domain; postsynaptic density protein of 95 kDa (PSD95), Drosophila disc large tumor suppressor (DlgA), and zonula occludens-1 protein (Zo-1))) <sup>30</sup>. The PDZ domain is well known to associate with

11

actin within the cytoskeleton close to the membrane, making it ideal for Raptor to recruit and promote the interaction of p85 S6K-1 and p70 S6K-1 to the mTORC1 complex by binding to their TOS motif. Subsequently, the mTORC1 complex phosphorylates the hydrophobic motifs, one at T389 (p70 S6K-1) and another at T412 (p85 S6K-1)<sup>29</sup>. While both p85 S6K-1 and p70 S6K-1 can be turned on by the same kinase, p85 S6K-1 promotes tumorigenesis and cell migration making it an oncogenic kinase <sup>31</sup> with no direct relationship to insulin signaling. On the other hand, p70 S6K-1 phosphorylation by mTORC1 is directly related to increased nutrient availability, due to insulin stimulation or amino acid availability. The phosphorylation of p70 S6K-1 at T389 primes it for phosphorylation on its activation loop by PDK1 at T229, rendering p70 S6K-1 fully active.

When p70 S6K-1 is active it phosphorylates ribosomal protein S6 at the following sites in the following order: S236, S235, S240, S244, and S247<sup>27</sup>, <sup>32</sup> leading to ribosomal biogenesis. In addition, active p70 S6K-1 activates GIn-dependent carbamoyl phosphate synthase, Asp carbamoyl transferase, dihydroorotase (CAD) by phosphorylating it at S1859 which results in pyrimidine synthesis. Both mTORC1 and p70 S6K-1 pathways promote nucleotide and protein synthesis, as well as lipid synthesis by activating SREBPs (Figure 6). <sup>27</sup>.

# 1.2 1.3 IRS-1 regulation

#### 1.3

IRS-1 is regulated by both insulin stimulated dependent and insulin independent kinases. Generally, tyrosine phosphorylation is depicted as the positive regulation while negative

12

regulation is attributed to serine phosphorylation (Figure 7). Recently, acetylation has also being associated with negative regulation of IRS-1 . (Figure 76). However, determining the role serine phosphorylation is complicated, as there are conflicting reports regarding its contribution towards the inhibition of IRS-1 (Figure 7). Whether the regulation is negative or positive is dependent on the kinase, the serine sites phosphorylated on IRS-1, the order in which the sites are phosphorylated, and when the phosphorylation takes place. <sup>33</sup>.

#### Kinase dependent positive regulation of IRS-1

While it is already established that phosphorylation of IRS-1 on its tyrosine residues leads to its anchoring on the plasma membrane and subsequently its activation, the phosphorylation of some serine sites on IRS-1 can enhance its activation. For example, the phosphorylation of IRS-1 at S1223 due to insulin stimulation promotes prolonged IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation by diminishing IRS-1-SHP2 (SH protein tyrosine phosphatase -2) interaction. SHP2 usually binds to IRS-1 after IRS-1 is activated by IR. The IRS-1 and SHP2 interaction may beutlilize negative feedback since it leads to the dephosphorylation of the tyrosine residues in which PI3K binds (YMXM motif). <sup>34,35</sup>.

When IRS-1 is activated it eventually leads to the activation of AKT, a downstream effector kinase of the insulin signaling pathway. AKT leads to positive feedback that involves the phosphorylation of IRS-1 on S629. This positive regulation of IRS-1 is further understood to avert the inhibitory phosphorylation of IRS-1 at S636 by the extracellular signal-regulated kinase

(ERK). Studies have shown that introducing a mutation on IRS-1 that substitutes the serine on 629 to an alanine, in order to prevent its subsequent phosphorylation, leads to the increased phosphorylation of S636. However, this effect is only seen when Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells are treated with 100nM of insulin for 15min after being serum starved for 4hrs <sup>59</sup>.

The timing in which a site is phosphorylated can determine whether the regulation will be positive or negative. Such is the case with the phosphorylation of IRS-1 at S307 by p70 S6K-1 and mTORC1, S323 by protein kinase c (PKC)  $\lambda/C$ , and S636 by rho-associated coiled-coil containing protein kinase 1 (ROCK1)<sup>33</sup>. For example, rapid stimulation by glucose and amino acids enhanced the phosphorylation of S307 at the basal state thus promoting the positive regulation of IRS-1. In this study,Studies have demonstrated that cells were serum starved for 4 hrs. and then treated with 100nM of insulin for varying lengths of time: 0 min, 1 min, 5 min, 15 min, 30 min, 60 min, 120 min, and 240 min. 30 min of treatment with 100nM of insulin yielded the highest phosphorylation of S307, while after 1 hr the phosphorylation was progressively diminished. In addition, studies have also shown that during the 30 min stimulation, AKT concentration increased but decreased at the 1 hr mark; thus, showing a positive regulation <sup>36,37</sup>.

On the other hand, hyperinsulinemia which leads to excessive activation of both mTORC1 and S6K-1 led to a pathogenic negative regulation of IRS-1 at S307, thus denoting the phosphorylation of S307 to be either positive or negative. These temporally based regulations can also either be positive or negative depending on the type of kinase that phosphorylates them <sup>33</sup>. However, another study refutes any involvement of p70 S6K-1 or mTORC1 in the

phosphorylation of S307. This argument is based on the view that p70 S6K-1 and mTORC1 may affect S307 phosphorylation buty make not be the kinases responsible for directly phosphorylating S307.<sup>33,38</sup>

Kinase dependent negative regulation of IRS-1

The dysregulation of IRS-1, as it pertains to insulin resistance, can be studied by looking at kinases and the phosphorylation sites they target. An exhaustive list of kinases are responsible for the negative regulation of IRS-1 on at least 19 serine/threonine sites. However, these kinases are usually stimulated by stimulants such as cytokines, angiotensin II, endothelin-1, free fatty acids, amino acids cellular stress and insulin <sup>39</sup>.

Protein Kinase C enzymes are commonly known for being stimulated by diacylglycerol (DAG) and/or Calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>). They function as threonine and serine kinases. Of the 15 human PKC isoenzymes, which are categorized as either atypical, novel, or conventional, 6 are known to play a part in the regulation of IRS-1 <sup>40,41</sup>.

Conventional protein kinase C alpha and beta (PKC $\alpha$  and PKC $\beta$ ) require DAG and Ca<sup>2+</sup> for activation, while novel protein kinase C theta and delta (PKC $\theta$  and PKC $\delta$ ) only require Ca<sup>2+</sup>. Atypical protein kinase C zeta (PKC $\zeta$ ) does not function as typical PKC enzymes function as, their activation is dependent on lipids as well as PIP3 and PDK1. Among their many functions, PKC $\alpha$ , PKC $\beta$ , PKC $\theta$ , and PKC $\delta$  negatively regulate IRS-1 <sup>40,42</sup>.

The first negative regulation of IRS-1 involves the phosphorylation of S24 by PKC $\alpha$  after stimulation by phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA)<sup>43</sup>. S24 is located within the PH domain and when it is phosphorylated, the ability for IRS-1 to associate with the membrane is negatively affected. Consequently, there is reduced IRS-1 and IR interaction as well as reduced phosphorylation of the docking sites for PI3K<sup>44</sup>, which ultimately reduces mTORC1 activity. Interestingly, activation of PKC $\alpha$  via insulin or ceramide (a common activator of PKC $\alpha$ ), did not lead to the phosphorylation of S24<sup>45,46</sup>. PMA mediated phosphorylation of IRS-1 S24 by PKC $\alpha$ ultimately leads to the degradation of the insulin peptide hormone<sup>47</sup>. The rest of the serine sites are not found within any of the domains but are instead proximal to the PRB domain or further along the C-terminal tail.

Treatment with PMA was later discovered to increase the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S337 and S341, while inhibition of PKCα and PKCβ attenuated the phosphorylation. Furthermore, overexpressing PKCα and PKCβ increased the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S337 and S341. However, a kinase assay revealed that only PKCβ directly phosphorylated S341. An *in vivo* experiment in mice later revealed that PKCβ directly phosphorylated S341 thus priming S337 to be phosphorylated by glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3). Taken together, S337 phosphorylation by GSK-3 is dependent on the phosphorylation of S341 by PKCβ <sup>48</sup>.

Muscles of obese diabetic patients presented with increased PKC $\theta$  activity. The increase in fatty acids activates PKC $\theta$ , which leads to the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101, resulting in insulin resistance. <sup>49</sup>.

A study showed that PKC $\delta$  has 18 different phosphorylation sites on IRS-1. Of those sites, only 3 were determined as direct targets of PKC $\delta$ . An in vitro study revealed that when PKC $\delta$  phosphorylates IRS-1 at S307, S323, and S574 that IRS-1 is inhibited from interacting with the IR <sup>50</sup>.

Previous studies have found that the overexpression of PKCC led to reduced IRS-1 stimulated PI3K activity. In fact, it was later determined that insulin stimulated PKCC resulted in the inhibition of insulin stimulated tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1 <sup>51</sup>.

PKCC phosphorylates IRS-1 on S323, S503, and S570. While it has already been discussed that the phosphorylation of S323 by PKCC after prolonged insulin stimulation leads to a positive regulation of IRS-1, PKCC does not exhibit that same effect on the other three serine sites <sup>51-54</sup>. When PKCC phosphorylates S503 and S570, there is reduced IRS-1 and PI3K interaction, especially when S570 is phosphorylated <sup>54</sup>.

IRS-1 S270, a site that is most proximal to the PTB domain, is believed to be phosphorylated by S6K-1. This negative regulation of IRS-1 is mediated by tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) induced insulin resistance. T389 S6K-1 can be phosphorylated by mTORC1 as a downstream effector for the TNF- $\alpha$  pathway and studies have shown that mutating the S270 to A270 prevented S6K-1 from interacting with IRS-1 which prevented three other S6K-1 target sites from being phosphorylated: S307, S636, and S1101. This suggests that the phosphorylation of S270 by S6K-1 may prime the phosphorylation of S307, S636, and S1101 <sup>33,55</sup>. In addition, p70 S6K-1 has been known to phosphorylate IRS-1 S527 in vitro in a kinase assay <sup>56</sup>. Similarly, AKT can phosphorylate S527 in vitro in HEK293 cells. A study has shown that tyrosine

17

phosphorylation of IRS-1 in insulin stimulated HEK293 cells is inhibited when AKT phosphorylates S527<sup>33,57</sup>. However, this serine phosphorylation by AKT is not enough to completely stop all tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1<sup>57</sup>.

In addition, the insulin stimulated phosphorylation of S527, whether by S6K-1 or AKT, has been shown *in vivo* in patients with lean, insulin sensitive muscles given a hyperinsulinaemic clamp <sup>58</sup>. One study showed that the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101 is nutrient dependent and is induced by p70 S6K-1 in insulin and amino acid stimulated L6 cells immunoprecipitants. The insulin induced phosphorylation of S1101 is further increased in obese diabetic mice. These obese diabetic mice also display hyperphosphorylation of p70 S6K-1 when stimulated with insulin alone. Furthermore, muscle biopsies of patients stimulated with both amino acids and insulin revealed that the hyperactivation of p70 S6K-1 was linked both to insulin resistance and S1101 phosphorylation. Insulin alone increases S1101 phosphorylation less than when combined with the infusion of amino acids <sup>59</sup>.

In addition, when observing the phosphorylation status of S1101 in type 2 diabetic patients, there is increased S1101 phosphorylation before any insulin is administered. Both 1 hr and 2 hrs after insulin is given there is no change in the phosphorylation of S1101  $^{58}$ .

JNK and IKK have been shown to phosphorylate S312 in vitroin vitro, thus decreasing IR and IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation. When both JNK and IKK were inhibited there was a decrease in the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S312 <sup>60-64</sup>. This regulation is not stimulated by insulin but rather by (tumor necrosis factor-alpha) TNF- $\alpha$  via inflammation <sup>65</sup>.

Studies have also shown that an increase in a high fat diet increases the phosphorylation of S312 and that this phosphorylation has been seen to be decreased in JNK1 knockout mice. The knockout JNK1 mice showed a reduction in adiposity and an improvement in insulin sensitivity. Even obese mice with a mutant JNK1 were protectiveshowed lower incidence of against high blood sugar and hyperinsulinemia <sup>39</sup>. The involvement of S6K-1 and mTORC1 in phosphorylating S312 is only implied <sup>33</sup>. It seems that the phosphorylation of S312 has been used as a way to identify of the progression or commencement of insulin resistance. It would be good to study the phosphorylation status of S312 in non-insulin resistant models <sup>33</sup>.

G protein coupled receptor kinase 2 (GRK2) negatively regulates IRS-1 upon the phosphorylation of S616 which leads to the suppression of GLUT4 translocation. When GRK2, also known as  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptor kinase-1 (BARK1) is knocked down in 3TL1 adipocytes treated with endothelin-1 (ET-1), there is a decrease in the phosphorylation of S616 IRS-1. which led to the restoration of the GLUT4 translocation <sup>33,66</sup>.

As previously mentioned, phosphorylation of S323 can lead to positive regulation of IRS-1 only when PKC $\lambda$ /C is involved, however, when mTORC1 or PKC $\delta$  phosphorylate S323 it leads to negative regulation of IRS-1. In other words, while one kinase can phosphorylate one site to positively regulate IRS-1, another kinase can phosphorylate the same site to negatively regulate IRS-1. Similarly, phosphorylation by ROCK1 at IRS-1 S636/639 can lead to positive regulation, however, the opposite occurs when it is phosphorylated by mTORC1 and ERK1/2<sup>33</sup>.

#### 1.4 1.4 Dysregulation of IRS-1 and the progression of insulin resistance

During normal regulation, insulin binds to the alpha subunits of IR. Insulin is produced and secreted from the pancreas via calcium dependent exocytosis upon the presence of glucose in the blood. Blood glucose is not the only stimulant that promotes insulin secretion, as fatty acids, amino acids, and other nutrients are also known to stimulate its release. Nutrient supply plays a crucial role in the initiation and progression of insulin resistance. In other words, excess nutrients are detrimental to the insulin signaling pathway primarily due to the eventual desensitization of IRS-1. Therefore, the next signal transductionactivation of the insulin pathway will require an even greater amount of insulin to induce signaling as ist depicted in Figure 87. The dysregulation of IRS-1 eventually leads to insulin resistance, rendering insulin ineffective in sending out further signals. In addition, IRS-1 degradation consequently occurs (Figure 8). Studies have shown that an increase in the consumption of amino acids in the form of meat or glucose in the form of simple sugars exponentially increases incidences of type 2 diabetes, a disease notably characterized by insulin resistance <sup>67</sup>.

# 1.5 1.5 mTORC1 and S6K-1 signaling in relation to IRS

As previously mentioned, insulin binds to the IR which initiates the signal transduction pathway that leads to the activation of activates mTORC1 which then phosphorylates p70 S6K-1. The initiation of this pathway can be negatively regulated by both mTORC1 and S6K-1. Both these kinases will phosphorylate the serine residues mentioned previously to desensitize IRS-1 from

any more incoming signals from the binding of insulin to the IR. Studies have already shown that tyrosine phosphorylation on IRS-1 leads to its activation while serine phosphorylation usually leads to negative regulation of IRS-1. An increase in dietary or caloric intake is detrimental because it leads to excess nutrient availability such as sugars, lipids, and amino acids which is why obesity is a risk factor for insulin resistance and many other metabolic disorders. Consequently, when there is prolonged insulin stimulation due to excess nutrients, p70 S6K-1 is hyperphosphorylated by mTORC1. As a result, the outcome is a greater than normal suppression of IRS-1 by p70 S6K-1. In this case, S6K-1 is hyperphosphorylatedion due to prolonged insulin stimulation consequently leadings to the proteasomal degradation of IRS-1. However, proteasomal degradation alone is not a determinant for the development of insulin resistance. Also, hyper-aminoacidemia does not lead to the proteasomal degradation of IRS-1; however, it primes IRS-1 for inhibitory serine phosphorylation which still leads to insulin resistance. Studies have shown that p70 S6K-1 can impact the phosphorylation of IRS-1 at S312, S636, and S639. Hyper-aminoacidemia leads to increased phosphorylation of IRS-1 S312, while hyperinsulinemia increases the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S636 and S639. Interestingly, mTORC1 is also capable of negatively regulating IRS-1 by phosphorylating S307, S636, S662,

and S731 <sup>33</sup>.

Serine phosphorylation of IRS-1 is not the only inhibitory post-translation modification that occurs. Recent studies have revealed another post-translation modification that regulates IRS-1 signaling, namely acetylation <sup>68</sup>. It is suggested that p300, an acetyltransferase, may also contribute to this IRS-1 downregulation <sup>69</sup>, while other studies have suggested that p300 may be

protective against insulin resistance <sup>70</sup>. Protein acetylation involves an acetyltransferase transferring an acetyl group from acetyl coenzyme A onto a lysine on a substrate protein.

#### 1.6 p300 Overview

### History and structure

p300 is an acetyltransferase that was first identified in 1985 as a protein that binds to adenovirus early region 1A (E1A), an adenoviral oncogenic transcription factor <sup>71-75</sup>.

As a result, p300 is also known as E1A associated protein p300 (EP300). p300 is encoded by EP300 located at 22q13.2, contains 31 exons, and is 2414 amino acids long <sup>76</sup>.

Named for its 300KD size <sup>72</sup>, p300 is always mentioned in concert with cyclic AMP response element-binding (CREB) protein (CBP), a protein made up of 2441 amino acids found on the chromosome 8 on locus 16p3.3. CBP was discovered in 1993 <sup>77</sup> and was also found to be able to bind to E1A just as p300 was found to be able to bind to CREB<sup>72</sup>.

Despite both CBP and p300 being paralogous and having a high sequence homology of 63% <sup>74,75,78</sup>, in 1996, both were discovered to have histone acetyltransferase activity <sup>79,80</sup>. As similar as p300 and CBP may be, they still display differences in their specificity and selectivity for lysines that are dependent on the availability of either their substrate or cofactor, acetyl CoA <sup>81</sup>.
P300 contains the following domains shown in Figure 98: NRID (1-100), TAZ1 (347-414)<sup>76</sup>, KIX (566-646)<sup>76</sup>, bromodomain (1047-1161), RING (1144-1216)<sup>76</sup>, HAT (1281-1664), ZZ zinc finger (1700-1751) and TAZ2 (1723-1836), NCBD or IBID. Additionally, p300 has a lysine rich regulatory loop contained within the HAT domain (1523-1554)<sup>76,82,83</sup>.

The RING domain interacts with the HAT domain, and this interaction appears regulatory as studies have shown that when the RING domain is deleted there is an increase in the catalytic activity of p300. Furthermore, studies have shown that the bromodomain though essential for the nuclear localization of p300, does not contribute to the catalytic activity of p300 <sup>84,85</sup>.

## Regulation of p300

P300 has the ability to activate itself by autoacetylation on the lysine rich regulatory loop found on its HAT domain, although it is not the only HAT capable of this phenomenon. The residues that are autoacetylated are K1499, K1549, K1554, and K1560<sup>85</sup>. When these residues are acetylated, p300 is activated. Studies have revealed that when this loop is deleted, p300 becomes constitutively active while decreasing the Michaelis constant (Km) of Acetyl-CoA and the target protein instead of increasing the rate of enzymatic activity. In other words, before acetylation, the loop, which is inhibitory, covers the site for substrate binding while acetylation exposes the substrate binding site. <sup>86,87</sup>.

Found also within the HAT domain are two catalytic residues: Y1467, which positions the Acetyl-CoA and adds a proton to the leaving group, and Y1436, that positions the substrates lysine. <sup>88</sup>.

p300 is well known for its involvement in histone acetylation in relation to gene transcription regulation, which is why it is commonly known as a histone acetyltransferase (HAT). However, it was later discovered that p300 can localize in the cytoplasm and acetylate cytoplasmic proteins. Consequently, all HATs were renamed lysine acetyltransferases (KAT). <sup>89</sup>. p300 is a highly promiscuous protein, even compared to other HATs, <sup>85</sup>, acetylating more than 80 known substrates. <sup>72,90</sup>. In addition, p300 interacts with more than 411 proteins. Therefore, it is not surprising that p300 is involved in so many cellular mechanisms including but not limited to NFκB <sup>72</sup>, Notch <sup>91</sup>, cAMP signaling <sup>92</sup>, estrogen <sup>93</sup>, stress response <sup>94-96</sup>, and DNA damage response <sup>97-99</sup> pathways <sup>72</sup>.

PKC is known to phosphorylate p300 at S89 resulting in the repression of p300 regulated transcription. <sup>100</sup>. It has been demonstrated that mTORC1-dependent phosphorylation removes the intra-molecular inhibition of p300. This inhibition is achieved because it prevents the catalytic HAT domain from binding to the RING domain. When p300 is inactive, the RING domain is tightly associated with the HAT domain active site. <sup>101</sup>. When mTORC1 phosphorylates p300 it causes the dissociation of the RING domain from the HAT domain on p300. It is hypothesized that the phosphorylation leads to a conformational change that leads to the displacement of the RING domain from the catalytic site of the HAT domain. <sup>101,102</sup>.

24

mTORC1 phosphorylates p300 at 4 serine residues in the C-terminal domain, namely S2271, S2279, S2291, and S2315 (Figure 10). It was previouslyhas been demonstrated that the deletion of the C-terminal domain resulted in a failed interaction between mTORC1 and p300. It was discovered that p300 is associatesd with Flag-Raptor using Co-IP. Treatment with the mTOR inhibitor, Torin1, which inhibits both mTORC1 and mTORC2, paired with amino acid starvation decreased the interaction while the overexpression of Rheb or the replenishing of amino acids after starvation immensely enhanced the association of p300 with Raptor. <sup>102</sup> of p300 with Raptor.

AKT phosphorylates p300 on S1834 (Figure 10) leading to its recruitment to intercellular adhesion molecule- 1 (ICAM-1) promoter, resulting in ICAM-1 gene expression upon histone acetylation by p300<sup>103,104</sup>. ERK2 has been discovered to increase p300 HAT activity by phosphorylating the C-terminal serine residues S2279, S2315, and S2366, (Figure 10) resulting in the acetylation of H3 by p300 to promote the expression of keratin 16 gene <sup>94</sup>. Other potential ERK2 phosphorylation sites include T317, T938, and T1960, (Figure 10) but their phosphorylation was not as effective compared to the phosphorylation of the serine residues located on the C-terminus <sup>94</sup>. Other post-translational modifications that take place include methylation and SUMOylation <sup>72</sup>.

### Acetyltransferase Activity on IRS-1

While it is fully understood and well documented that p70 S6K-1 and mTORC1 downregulate insulin signaling, the involvement of p300 raises questions. According to a study conducted in

2004, the acetylation of IRS-1 is suggested to be permissive for tyrosine phosphorylation while any deacetylation promotes the downregulation of IRS-1<sup>70</sup>. However, this is contradictory to a study done in 2017 that discovered that p300 does indeed acetylate IRS-1 on specific sites. The result of this is the development and progression of insulin resistance <sup>69</sup>. When IRS-1 sites K315, K623, K767, K862, K1017, K1080, and K1131 are acetylated by p300, insulin signaling is impaired <sup>69</sup>, although not all these sites need to be acetylated for insulin resistance, as a combination of acetylating K315-K767-K862, K1017-K1080, and K1017-K1080-K1131 is sufficient to mimic insulin resistance. Of the combinations, K1017-K1080-K1131 shows the highest downregulation of IRS-1. Both these studies cannot be true at the same time unless there is a different site or KAT that leads to the re-establishment or attenuation of insulin sensitivity <sup>69</sup>. One study suggested that Lysine acetyltransferase 5 (Tip60) may be the KAT that acetylates IRS-1 to restore its sensitivity, however, no further research has validated this hypothesis <sup>68</sup>.

## **1.,7** Introduction to Dissertation

#### Purpose of Study

While most studies have studied the effects of p300 on IRS-1 or p70 S6K-1 on IRS-1 have been studied individually, they have not looked into the crosstalk between each of these interactionspathways have not been studied. Specifically, they have not looked into the crosstalk between the phosphorylation and acetylation or IRS-1 warrants investigation. For example, are both the phosphorylation and acetylation occurring at the same time; is one permissive for the

action of the other; do they both produce simultaneously elicit the same regulation on IRS-1; does the phosphorylation of p300 prime it to acetylate IRS-1; without mTORC1 phosphorylation is p300 still able to acetylate IRS-1?. The curiosityinterest behind this crosstalk is inspired by the proximity of the acetylation sites to the phosphorylation sites . (Figure 9). Due toBecause of the implications that persist due to the hyperphosphorylation of negative regulatory sites on IRS-1, it is pertinent that further research needs to be done to fully understand the dysregulation of IRS-1 that leads to insulin resistance. It is also important to understand the negative regulation elicited by p300 on IRS-1 since its action is dependent on its presence in the cytoplasm. P300 is generally viewed as a nuclear protein due to its work in transcription regulation. Its translocation to the cytoplasm in relation to IRS-1 has been linked to an increase in a high fat diet (HFD) and a progression to insulin resistance via IRS-1 acetylation.

It is already known that one posttranslational modification can affect another. An example of this is the phosphorylation and acetylation of H3. H3 can be phosphorylated on S10 by sucrose non-fermenting (Snf1) thus increasing the binding affinity of general control non-repressed protein (GNC5) an acetyltransferase. GNC5 can then acetylate K14 . It is also understood that the overexpression of protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) diminishes K14 acetylation, displaying that Snf1 activity primes the action of GNC5 action on H3. (Figure 120).

Aims

The goal of this study is to learn if there is a relationship between the phosphorylation and acetylation of IRS-1. This question can be answered by a series of methods that include kinase assays, HAT assays, site-directed mutagenesis, protein and plasmid purification, and cell culture. This study will reveal if there is any possible crosstalk between the acetylation and phosphorylation of IRS-1 by p300 and p70 S6K-1, respectively.



## **Figure 1. Insulin Posttranslational modifications**

Insulin is a peptide hormone made from the pancreas. Insulin is translated into preproinsulin which is made up of an A-chain, C-peptide, B-chain, and signal peptide. Preproinsulin becomes proinsulin when the signal peptide is later removed thus also leading to its translocation from the ER to the Golgi apparatus. Cleavage by prohormone convertases (PC) 1/3, proprotein convertase 2 (PC2), and carboxypeptidase E (CPE) leads to the formation of mature insulin and C-peptide hormone which are both secreted into blood stream from secretory vesicles. Mature insulin is made up of the A-chain and B-chain which are bound by disulfide bonds. from cysteines.



## Figure 2. The interaction of IRS-1 and the IR.

The recruitment of IRS-1 to the IR is dependent on the insulin signaling. When insulin binds the  $\alpha$  subunit of the IR, a signal is transmitted that leads to the autophosphorylation of the  $\beta$  subunit of the IR. Consequently, IRS-1 is recruited to the plasma membrane where the IR associates with the phospho-tyrosine binding (PTB) domain of IRS-1. Lastly, IRS-1 gets anchored to the plasma membrane by its pleckstrin homology (PH) domain.



Figure 3. The metabolic and mitogenic effects of IRS-1 signaling: AKT signaling

AKT signaling via IRS-1 leads to mitogenic effects such as cell growth, differentiation, and the inhibition of apoptosis. AKT does so by the inhibition of GSK-3 and directly promoting cell growth and differentiation. Moreover, there are metabolic effects such as gluconeogenesis, glycogen synthesis, and glucose uptake from the bloodstream. The metabolic effects take place when AKT inhibits FOXO1 and GSK-3, as well as activation AS160.

AKT signaling via IRS-1 leads to mitogenic effects such as cell growth, differentiation, and the inhibition of apoptosis. Moreover, there are metabolic effects such as glycogen synthesis, and glucose uptake from the bloodstream that also occur.



Figure 4. The activation of mTORC1

mTORC1 is activated when Rheb-GTP binds to it. This process is usually inhibited by TSC2, a GTPase-activating protein, when it is bound to TSC1. When AKT is activated upon insulin stimulation, it phosphorylates TSC2, which leads to the dissociation of TSC1 and TSC2 complex. This dissociation prevents the conversion of Rheb-GTP to Rheb-GDP, thus allowing the activation of mTORC1.





Figure 54. The metabolic and mitogenic effects of IRS-1 signaling: mTORC1 signaling

mTORC1 signaling via IRS-1 leads to protein synthesis by catalyzing the disscoicaiton of 4E-BP1 from eIF4E while also promoting amino acid uptake. mTORC1 both promotes lipogenesis by directly activation lipin-1, while also inhibiting lipolysis by directly phosphorylating TFEB. mTORC1 can also directly phosphorylate ATG14 and ULK1 leading to their inhibition. This inhibition leads to autophagy.

mTORC1 signaling via IRS-1 leads to protein synthesis, amino acid uptake, lipolysis, autophagy, and lipogenesis.



Figure 6. The metabolic and mitogenic effects of IRS-1 signaling: S6K-1 signaling

p70 S6K-1 signaling via IRS-1 leads to the inhibition of apoptosis when BAD is inhibited. p70 S7K-1 directly phosphorylates RPS6 to promote the synthesis of proteins. p70 S6K-1 also promotes the synthesis of uracil, thymine, cytosine, and ribosomes via the phosphorylation of CAD.

## Figure 5. The metabolic and mitogenic effects of IRS-1 signaling: S6K-1 signaling

S6K-1 signaling via IRS-1 leads to the inhibition of apoptosis and the synthesis of proteins, uracil, thymine, cytosine, and ribosomes.



### Figure 7. IRS-1 Regulation

IRS-1 is activated due to the phosphorylation of tyrosine residues (A). The phosphorylation of its serine residues can either enhance IRS-1 activity or inhibit it (B). This posttranslational modification outcome is dependent on the kinase and the target site. The acetylation of IRS-1 on its lysine residues located on the C terminus leads to its inhibitions (C)



## Figure 6. IRS-1 Regulation

IRS-1 is activated due to the phosphorylation of tyrosine residues. The phosphorylation of its serine residues can either enhance IRS-1 activity or inhibit it. Acetylation of IRS-1 leads to its inhibitions.



Figure 7. The Dysregulation of IRS-1

Excess caloric intake leads to increased insulin signaling which can lead to the desensitization of IRS-1. Once desensitized, the next signal is going to require more insulin to elicit a response similar to the initial one.



### Figure 8. The Dysregulation of IRS-1

Normal insulin signaling is achieved with physiological levels of insulin (A), while excess caloric intake leads to increased insulin signaling which can lead to the excessive phosphorylation and acetylation of IRS-1 due to S6K-1 hyperphosphorylation and p300 acetylation (B). Excessive IRS-1 inhibition leads to its degradation (C). Once insulin resistance occurs the next signal is going to require more insulin to elicit a response similar to when a physiological concentration of insulin is administered to an insulin sensitive model.



## Figure 98. p300 Domain

P300 contains different domains with autoregulatory HAT domain. Nuclear receptor binds to the nuclear receptor interaction domain (NRID). NF $\kappa$ B, STAT2, P53, and HIF-1 $\alpha$  bind to the transcriptional adaptor zinc-finger 1 (TAZ1) domain. CREB binds to the kinase-inducible domain interacting (KIX) domain. E1A, E2F-1, p90 S6K-1, and p53 bind to the ZZ-type zinc finger (ZZ) domain. P300 can be phosphorylated by CaMKIV, IKK, AKT, mTORC1, and ERK.



## Figure 10. p300 phosphorylation sites

P300 can.be phosphorylated by, AKT, mTORC1, and ERK. AKT phosphorylates p300 on S1834 leading to its recruitment to intercellular adhesion molecule- 1 (ICAM-1) promoter. ERK2 can increase p300 HAT activity by phosphorylating the C-terminal serine residues S2279, S2315, and S2366. ERK2 can also phosphorylate T317, T938, and T1960. mTORC1 phosphorylates p300 at S2271, S2279, S2291, and S2315. This the outcome of this posttranslational modification is not understood.



# Figure 119. IRS-1 model structure

IRS-1 has multiple sites for posttranslational modifications located on the C termina end. IRS-1 contains pleckstrin homolog (PH) and a phosphotryrosine-binding (PTB) domains, which are useful in the activation and function of IRS-1. The serine phosphorylation sites are represented by boxes while the acetylation sites are represented by circles.



# Figure 120. H3 phosphorylation and acetylation

H3 is phosphorylated by sucrose non-fermenting 1 (Snf1) at S10 to promote the acetylation of K14 by general control non-repressed protein 5 (GNC5).

Item	Company	Catalog #
Acetylated Lysine Ab	Cell Signaling Tech.	9814S
IRDye 680RD Goat anti-Rabbit IgG	LI-COR	926-68071
	ATCC	30-2003
HepG2	ATCC	HB-8065
T175 Flasks	Genesee	25-211
Hemacytometer	Weber Scientific	3048-11
PBS	Millipore Sigma	P4417-100TAB
Magnesium/ATP Cocktail	Millipore Sigma	20-113
Acetyl-CoA Sodium Salt	Millipore Sigma	A2056-5MG
BL21 DE3 Cells	Thermo Fisher	EC0114
EMEM	ATCC	30-2003
PVDF	Fisher	IPVH00005
HisPur Resin	Fisher	PI88221
rProtein A Agarose	Genessee	20-525
Mini-PROTEAN TGX Precast Gels (12 Well)	BioRad	4-20% Gradient
S6 Ribosomal Protein (5G10) Rabbit mAb	Cell Signaling Tech.	2217S
Phospho-S6 Ribosomal Protein (Ser235/236) (91B2) Rabbit mAb	Cell Signaling Tech.	48578
Anti-Actin (20-33) Ab produced in rabbit	Millipore Sigma	A5060-200UL
Trichostatin A	Millipore Sigma	T8552-5MG
ReadyShield Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail	Millipore Sigma	PPC2020-5ML
1 x Kinase Assay Buffer	Abcam	ab189135
Recombinant S6K1	Abcam	ab268834
IBM SPSS Statistics Grad Pack 28.0 STANDARD	Software Package	
4-20% Mini-PROTEAN TGX Precast Gels	BioRad	4561095
Phospho-IRS-1 (Ser312) Polyclonal Antibody	ThermoFisher Scientific	500-8984
Phospho-IRS-1 (Ser636) Polyclonal Antibody	ThermoFisher Scientific	PA1-1055
Phospho-IRS-1 (Ser1101) Polyclonal Antibody	ThermoFisher Scientific	PA5-36719
IRS1 Recombinant Protein	Bio Source	MBS515143
IRS1 Recombinant Protein	Bio Source	MBS515371
IRS-1 Antibody	Cell Signaling Tech.	2382S
PF-4708671	Apex Bio	B2228
C646	Apex Bio	B1577
2x Laemmli buffer	Bio Rad	1610737

### **Cell Culture**

HepG2 (ATCC, HB-8065) hepatocellular carcinoma cells were maintained in EMEM (Eagle's minimum essential medium) (ATCC, 30-2003) supplied with EquaFETAL Bovine Serum (Atlas Biologicals, EF-0050-A), and 1% Pen Strep (penicillin and streptomycin). The cells were grown in a 37°C incubator with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cells were split and plated into 6 well plates with 10% EquaFETAL and 1% Pen Strep before each experiment. Once cells reached about 85% confluency, the cells were starved of their full serum media via aspiration and were then washed with sterile PBS (Sigma Millipore, A2056-5MG). Next, the cells were supplied with serum free EMEM supplemented only with 1% Pen Strep.

### **Dose Responses**

#### S6K-1 Inhibition

Cells were split and plated in 6 well plates with 10% EquaFETAL and 1% Pen Strep. Once cells reached approximately 85% confluency, medium was removed, the cells were washed with sterile PBS, and the media was replaced with EMEM containing 1% Pen Strep. After 24hrs of being serum starved, the cells were treated with a p70 S6K-1 inhibitor, PF4708671 (APExBIO, B2228), for 16hrs at the following concentrations diluted in DMSO: 1  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M, 20  $\mu$ M, and 40  $\mu$ M. 3hrs before the 16hrs elapsed cells were treated with 10nM of insulin.

## p300 Inhibition

After 24hrs of being serum starved, the cells were treated with thea p300 inhibitor, C646 (APExBio, B1577), for 16hrs at the following concentrations diluted in DMSO: 1  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M, 20  $\mu$ M, and 40  $\mu$ M. 3hrs before the 16hrs elapsed cells were treated with 10nM of insulin for the rest of theremaining 3hrs.

### Western Blot

After the treatment of HepG2 cells with insulin and either PF4708671 or C646, the cells were washed with sterile PBS and collected with 2x Laemmli buffer (Bio-Rad, 1610737). Samples were boiled at 95°C for 5min and briefly centrifuged. Each treatment was assessed using gradient 4-20% precast polyacrylamide gels (Bio-Rad, 4561093EDU) . Each gel was then transferred on to a PVDF membrane (Fisher, IPVH00005), then blocked in 5% nonfat dry milk in tris buffered saline tween-20 (TBST) for an hour at room temperature or overnight at 4°C on a rocker. Following this, the blots were washed with TBST followed by the addition of the appropriate primary antibody. The antibodies used are listed ion Table 1. The blots were then incubated at 4°C overnight with rocking. Subsequently, the blots were washed with TBST (LI-COR, 926-68071). Once the blots were washed with TBST, the blots were scanned on the LI-COR CLX imager and quantified using the LI-COR software Image Studio.

## **Proteins Assays**

In vitro Kinase Assay

In vitro *Kinase Assay* - The activity of rA protein assay of recombinant p70 S6K-1 kinase (Abcam, ab268834) on on two recombinant constructs of IRS-1, IRS-1 1-355 (1µug) and IRS-1 600-1245 (1µgug) (MyBioSource, MBS515143 and MBS515371) was observed performed. p70 S6K-1 kinase (0.25uµg) activity was first measured in a 10X kinase buffer (45mM MOPS, 37.5mM  $\beta$ -glycerol phosphate, 100mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10mM EGTA, 2mM EDTA, 1mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, and 0.5mM ATP). The buffer was supplemented with 1.25mM DTT at the time of use. Each reaction contained either IRS-1 1-355 or IRS-1 600-1245 substrate and incubated at 37°C for 30min. The target sites for p70 S6K-1 were S312 on IRS-1 1-355, S636/639 and S1101 on IRS-1 600-1245. The samples were prepared as follows: Negative control – kinase buffer, ATP, HAT buffer, and acetyl-CoA; Positive control – kinase buffer, ATP, p70 S6K-1, HAT Buffer, and acetyl-CoA; Experimental – kinase buffer, ATP, p70 S6K-1, HAT Buffer, acetyl-CoA, and p300.

The negative control was made without p70 S6K-1, while the positive control was made with p70 S6K-1. The products were resolved on gradient pre-cast gels (4%-20%), transferred on to a PVDF membrane, then immunoblotted by the following phosphor-specific IRS-1 antibodies: S312, S636/639, and s1101.

### In vitro HAT Assay

In vitro *HAT Assay* - P300 activity assays were performed. Each reaction contained a 5X HAT buffer (250mM Tris-HCl pH 7.9, 0.5mM EDTA, and 750mM NaCl) and was supplemented with 0.2mM PMSF and 0.5mM DTT immediately before starting the HAT assay. Each reaction was initiated by adding Acetyl-CoA (Millipore Sigma, A2056-5MG) then incubated at 30°C for

30min. The samples were prepared as follows: Negative control – HAT buffer, acetyl-Co-A, kinase buffer and ATP; Positive control –HAT Buffer, acetyl-CoA, p300, kinase buffer, and ATP; Experimental –HAT Buffer, acetyl-CoA, p300, kinase buffer, ATP, and p70 S6K-1.

The negative control was made without p300, while the positive control contained p300. The products were resolved on gradient pre-cast gels (4%-20%), transferred on to a PVDF membrane, then immunoblotted to access the acetylation status of IRS-1 before and after the addition of p300.

#### In vitro Mixed Assay

In vitro *Mixed Assay* - After performing a kinase assay to phosphorylate IRS-1, a HAT assay was set up by adding HAT buffer, acetyl-CoA, and p300. The samples were prepared as follows: Negative control – kinase buffer, ATP, HAT buffer, and acetyl-CoA; Positive control – kinase buffer, ATP, p70 S6K-1, HAT Buffer, and acetyl-CoA; Experimental – kinase buffer, ATP, p70 S6K-1, HAT Buffer, and p300.

## Sepaate this out different title

After IRS-1 had been acetylated, a kinase assay was performed with all the necessary reagents – kinase buffer, ATP, and p70 S6K-1. The samples were prepared as follows: Negative control – HAT buffer, acetyl-Co-A, kinase buffer and ATP; Positive control –HAT Buffer, acetyl-CoA, p300, kinase buffer, and ATP; Experimental –HAT Buffer, acetyl-CoA, p300, kinase buffer, ATP, and p70 S6K-1.

SDS-PAGE was performed on each of the above samples on an 4-20% gradient pre-cast gel transferred on to a PVDF membrane, and then immunoblotted by either a pan acetyl antibody or IRS-1 phospho-specific antibodies.

## 5 Immunoprecipitation of IRS-1 acetylation

On the first day of the experiment, cells were plated on a 10cm<sup>2</sup> plate with 10% EquaFETAL and 1% Pen Strep. Once cells reached about 85% confluency, the cells were starved of their full serum media via aspiration and were washed with sterile PBS. The cells were then supplied with serum free EMEM supplemented with just 1% Pen Strep. After 24hrs of being serum starved, the cells were treated.

To adequately collect the cells and stop the treatments, the cells were washed with cold sterile PBS then treated with 500µl of IP Lysis/Wash Buffer (Fisher Scientific, PI26146) supplemented with a protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Sigma, PPC2020-5ML). Each plate was placed on ice for 5min before scraping the cells into pre-chilled 1.7ml Eppendorf tubes. Afterwards, cells were sonicated for 5sec each while on ice before they were centrifuged at 4° C for 10min at speed of 13,000 x g. The supernatant was transferred into new pre-chilled 1.7ml Eppendorf tubes and incubated with an IRS-1 antibody overnight at 4° C. Afterwards, Sepharose A/G beads (Abcam 206996) were added to each tube and incubated for 2hrs at 4°C. The bead, antibody, and protein aggregates were collected and washed in a wash buffer containing (10mM Tris pH 7.4, 1mM EDTA, 1mM EGTA pH 8.0, 150mM NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, and 0.2mM sodium orthovanadate). The samples were eluted with an acidic elution buffer containing

51

primary amine (Fisher Scientific, 26146). The eluents were then neutralized with 1M Tris pH 9.5 in order to perform functional assays.

## Methods performed for future research

**Dose Response** 

## **AKT1 Inhibition**

Serum starved cells were treated with a AKT inhibitor, MK2206 (APExBIO, A3010), for 24hrs hrs at the following concentrations diluted in DMSO:  $0.67\mu$ M,  $1.17\mu$ M,  $1.67\mu$ M,  $2.17\mu$ M, and  $2.67\mu$ M. 10min before the 24hrs elapsed cells were treated with 10nM of insulin. A second dose

response was performed using the following concentrations: 4nM, 8nM, 16nM, 32nM, and 64nM. 1hr before the 24hrs elapsed cells were treated with 10nM of insulin. The products were resolved on gradient pre-cast gels (4%-20%), transferred on to a PVDF membrane, then immunoblotted to access the phosphorylation status of AKT.

## p70 S6K-1 stimulation by insulin

Following 24hrs of being serum starved, the cells were treated, for 1hr at the following concentrations of insulin diluted in sterile PBS; 10nM, 50nM, and 100nM. The samples were collected in sample buffer (0.128M Tris Base, 26% glycerol, 2.6% SDS, 0.32% 2-Mercaptoethanol). An SDS PAGE was performed using 6%, 7.5%, or 10.5% resolving gel (6% Acryl/0.04% BIS, 0.37M Tris Base pH 8.8, 0.55mM ammonium persulfate, and 0.1% TEMED) and stacking gel (4.3% Acryl/0.12% BIS, 0.11M Tris Base, and 0.09% SDS, 0.274mM ammonium persulfate, 0.05% TEMED). The gel was then transferred using transfer bufferTBST on to a PVDF membrane, and then immunoblotted by total p70 S6K-1 or phospho p70 S6K-1.

#### p70 S6K1 Site Directed Mutagenesis

Site directed mutagenesis was performed on a wild type p70 S6K-1 construct in order to create a constitutively active and constitutively inactive p70 S6K-1. Initially exponential amplification PCR was performed with the following setup: 0.5µM forward primer, 0.5µM reverse primer, 5ng

of wildtype p70 S6K-1 construct, and Q5 Hot Start High Fidelity Master mix (product numbNEB, E0554er). The PCR scheme involved an initial first denaturation for 30sec at 98°C followed by 25 cycles of denaturing (for 10sec at 98°C), annealing (for 20sec at 60 °C), and extension (for 3.4min at 72 °C). After the 25 cycles each sample underwent final extension for 2min at 72 °C. A kinase ligase and DpnI (KLD) treatment was added to each sample with DH5 $\alpha$  cells followed by at 30min incubation on ice. (Figure 11AB) The samples were heat shocked at 42 °C for 30sec each then placed on ice for 5min. SOC media was added and samples were put in a gentle shaker for 1hr. Lastly, the samples were plated inon to petri dishes and grown overnight. The plasmid DNA was purified from the colonies and sent for sequencing to verify the mutations. (Figure 111BA).



Figure 11. Site Directed Mutagenesis.

### p300 enhances the phosphorylation of IRS-1 on specific sites by p70 S6K-1

### Introduction

The study of insulin resistance and the resulting impacts on IRS-1 regulation has been popular widely studied over the past decade. A common theme has been shown that a high caloric intake can lead to insulin resistance among other factors, such as obesity, thus rendering IRS-1 insensitive to stimulation by physiological concentrations of insulin. Risk factors that lead to insulin resistance can lead to cardiometabolic complication such as coronary heart disease or type 2 diabetes. Therefore, the study of the dysregulation of IRS-1 remains relevant for further development of potential rehabilitation of IRS-1 homeostatic function. Multiple posttranslational modifications have been revealed to be responsible for the dysregulation of IRS-1 caused by hyperinsulinemia, hyperaminoacidemia, or the administration of a high fat diet (HFD).

p300, a well-known acetyltransferase, has been shown to be greatly elevated in mice liver that had been fed a high fat diet (HFD) compared to those fed a regular diet, before the development of insulin resistance. Administering a HFD led to an increase in lipopolysaccharides which prevented the degradation of p300 thus increasing protein levels of p300. Importantly, in these experiments the transcription of the p300 gene was not stimulated. This increase is not due to the stimulation of p300 transcription. After the development of insulin resistance due to a continual HFD, p300 protein levels remained elevated. This study revealed that although p300 levels increase, CREB binding protein (CBP), a p300 homologue and its transcriptional co-activator, did not display any change its in protein levels meaning that p300 was solely affected.

57

Furthermore, an increase in lipopolysaccharide treated in Hep1-6 cells, led to the localization of p300 when from a preferably localizing in the nucleus toin the cytoplasmic localization rather than the nucleus. Further research revealed that as a result p300 led to a decreased in insulin signaling while localized in the cytoplasm. This decrease in insulin signaling was revealed be due to acetylation of IRS-1 on various lysine site. Selectively inhibiting p300 using C646 has been shown to improve insulin resistance by both preventing the acetylation of IRS-1 and increasing the interaction between IRS-1 and IR. Acetylation is not the only posttranslational modification that negatively regulates IRS-1, as. sSpecific serine phosphorylations can negatively regulate IRS-1 as welltoo. While different kinases target different sites, p70 S6K-1 is among the few kinases that can phosphorylate IRS-1 on multiple sites based on stimuli such as hyperinsulinemia or hyperaminoacidemia. PF4708671 is a well-known selective inhibitor of p70 S6K-1. Both PF4708671 and C646 are a great tool to study the crosstalk between the acetylation and serine phosphorylation of IRS-1.
#### Results

# PF4708671 selectively inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to negative regulation of RPS6 is a dose dependent manner

To determine the involvement of S6K1 in the phosphorylation of specific sites on IRS-1, PF4708671, a selective inhibitor of p70 S6K-1, was used. A dose response was conducted to determine the appropriate concentration necessary to inhibit p70 S6K-1. HepG2 cells were treated with insulin, after which the inhibitor was added, and the phosphorylation of RPS6, a direct target protein for p70 S6K-1, was examined. Cells deprived of serum showed little to no phosphorylation of RPS6, while cells with serum exhibited a small amount of phosphorylation. When 10nM insulin was added to the serum starved cells for 3hrs, the phosphorylation of RPS6 increased 10-fold. The effect insulin had on the phosphorylation of RPS6 was attenuated by PF4708671 in a dose dependent manner. The concentrations used were  $1\mu$ M,  $5\mu$ M,  $10\mu$ M,  $20\mu$ M and  $40\mu$ M for 16hrs. At  $5\mu$ M, RPS6 phosphorylation was reduced by more than half (Figure 12).

PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation of S1101 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent manner

While p70 S6K-1 is known to phosphorylate RPS6, it is also known to phosphorylate specific serine residues on IRS-1. The inhibition of S6K-1 by PF4708671 led to a statistically significant decrease in IRS-1 S1101 phosphorylation in insulin treated Hep G2 cells. After treatment with 10µM of PF4708671, the phosphorylation of S1101 showed a statistically significant decrease of 10% , however at 20µM there was a 70% decrease (Figure 2?). In figure 12, there was an increase in RPS6 S235/236 phosphorylation from insulin treated HepG2 cells compared to serum starved only cells. In contrast, IRS-1 S1101 phosphorylation did not change when treated with 10nM of insulin (Figure 132).

# PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation of S312 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent manner

Just as S1101 phosphorylation did not increase from insulin stimulation (Figure 13), IRS-1 S312 phosphorylation did not either in response to 10nM insulin treatment. (Figure 2). However, the addition of PF4708671 reduces the phosphorylation of S312 in a dose dependent manner. At  $10\mu$ M of PF4708671, the phosphorylation of S312 decreased by 50%, however at  $20\mu$ M there was a 70% decrease (Figure 14)3).

PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation of S636/S639 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent manner

The phosphorylation status of S636/639 in serum starved cells was compared to serum starved cells treated with insulin. There was no significant difference between the two. Treatment of HepG2 cells with 10  $\mu$ M of PF4708671 led to a 30% decrease in the phosphorylation of S636/639. However, when p70 S6K-1 is inhibited by 20 $\mu$ M PF4708671, the phosphorylation of S636/639 is decreased by 50%. (Figure 154).

# C646 inhibits p300, thus reducing the acetylation of H3 at K9 and K14 in a dose dependent manner

The role of that p300 plays ion in the regulation of IRS-1 activation is a subject that groups are has been studied and revealed to be negative. actively researching. However, how the effect of that p300 effects affect to indirectly enhance has on the phosphorylation status of IRS-1 through acetylation is not currently understood. To assess the acetyltransferase activity of p300, the optimal dose of inhibitor that is required to successfully decrease the acetyltransferase activity of p300 was assessed by treating cells with C646 for 16hrs, a selective p300 inhibitor. The acetylation status of H3, a direct target of p300, was assessed in serum starved cells and serum starved cells treated with 10nM insulin for 3hrs. The acetylation status did not change, showing that insulin has no role in regulating histone acetylation via p300. However, once cells were treated with C646 the H3 acetylation gradually decreased. At a concentration of 5µM H3 acetylation was decreased by more than half, while at 10µM there was a 10-fold decrease; thus, demonstrating the effectiveness of C646 at specifically inhibiting p300 (Figure 165).

Inhibition of p300 leads to reduced phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101 and S312 in a dose dependent manner

Cells were treated with C646 were used to assess the change in the phosphorylation status of S312 and S1101 on IRS-1. Treatment with  $5\mu$ M of C646 led to a 40% decrease in S1101 phosphorylation compared to HepG2 cells treated with insulin. In addition, insulin stimulated HepG2 cells treated with 10 $\mu$ M of C646, significantly which reduced the ability of p300 to acetylate IRS-1, leading led to an 80% decrease in IRS-1 S1101 phosphorylation (Figure 176). On the other hand, inhibiting p300 with  $5\mu$ M of C646 led to a 62% decrease in IRS-1 S312 phosphorylation, while the 10 $\mu$ M treatment of C646 led to a 75% decrease (Figure 187).

#### The absence of p300 activity did not change the phosphorylation status of IRS-1 S636/639

Insulin stimulated HepG2 cells treated with C646 showed no statistically significant change in the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S636/639. Inhibition of p300 did not reduce the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S636/S639 in a dose dependent manner, and neither is there a change in the phosphorylation status of S636/639 when comparing serum starved cells to insulin stimulated cells (Figure 198). This suggests that the basal phosphorylation of S636 cannot be changed by insulin stimulation and that C646 has no effect on this phosphorylation.

# Inhibiting p300 via C646 increases p70 S6K-1 activity but reduces phosphorylation of S6K1 specific sites on IRS-1

After being serum starved for 24 hrs, HepG2 cells were treated with C646 for 16hrs and with insulin for 3hrs. RPS6 phosphorylation of site 235/236 increased after treatment with insulin without C646 treatment. When the insulin stimulated HepG2 cells are treated with 5 $\mu$ M and 10 $\mu$ M of C646 there is a statistically significant increase in S235/236 RPS6 phosphorylation. At 5 $\mu$ M RPS6 S235/236 phosphorylation increases 120-fold, while at 10 $\mu$ M it increased by 250-fold (Figure 209).

#### p300 enhances the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101 by p70 S6K1, but not S636/639

An *in vitro* kinase assay was performed to assess p70 S6K-1 activity on IRS-1. The control lacked the presence of S6K1 while the experimental group had both p70 S6K-1 as well as ATP. There was a 100-fold increase in the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101 due to S6K1 activity. The addition of p300 with acetyl CoA to assess the effect of acetylation of IRS on the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101 led to an even greater increase in S1101 phosphorylation (Figure 2110). On the other hand, not only did p300 have no effect on the phosphorylation of S636/639, but p70 S6K-1 was insufficient in changing the phosphorylation status of S636/639 when compared to the ATP-depleted negative control (Figure 2121). It is imperative to note thatT the overall acetylation of IRS-1 was not affected by when the presence of p70 S6K-1 was added (Figures 2132A and 2132B). Therefore, it is clear that the acetylation status of IRS-1

63

enhances the phosphorylation of S1101, while the phosphorylation of IRS-1 has not effect on the its acetylation.

Preliminary Results for Future Research

#### **AKT1 Dose Response**

After being serum starved for 24 hrs., HepG2 cells were treated with MK2206 for 24hrs and with insulin for 1hr. Serum starved cells hads very little S473 AKT phosphorylation. Cells that had serum had double the amount of phosphorylation. Insulin stimulated cells displaced displayed an exponential increase phosphorylation of S473. When the insulin stimulated HepG2 cells were treated with 4nM to 64nM of MK2206 there was a dose dependent decrease in S473 phosphorylation. At 4nM, there was no change in phosphorylation, however at 8nM AKT phosphorylation dropped by half. Eventually treatment with 64nM led to a decrease that emulated cells that had not been treated with insulin . (Figure 2413).

#### p70 S6K-1 stimulation by insulin

Insulin treated cells were immunoblotted to verify if 10nM of insulin for 1hr is enough to stimulate the phosphorylation of p70 S6K-1. A gel shift assay revealed 4 separate bands that are known as alpha, beta, gamma and delta forms of p70 S6K-1. The presence of the beta gamma, and delta band represents the phosphorylated state of p70 S6K-1 while the presence of the alpha band represent an unphosphorylated p70 S6K-1 (Figure 25). a shift in iInsulin stimulated cells had phosphorylated p70S6K-1 compared to those cells only treated with sterile PBS insteadwhich hd no phosphorylation.

#### p70 S6K-1 Site Directed Mutagenesis

Site directed mutagenesis was successfully conducted performed to design an active construct of S6K1. The wild type T389 was mutated into a glutamic acid to represent a constitutively active p70 S6K-1 construct. Additional mutations were needed to activate it, as (put here what else is needed). Additionally, a constitutively inactive p70 S6K-1 construct was made by mutating the threonine T389 into A389an alanine (Figure 26).



### **Figure 12. PF4708671 selectively inhibits insulin stimulated p70S6K-1, negatively regulating RPS6 phosphorylation in a dose dependent manner.** To confirm the ability of PF4708671 to inhibit S6K-1, HepG2 cells were serum starved for 24hrs then treated with 10nM insulin and P4708671 (a selective p70 S6K-1 inhibitor). The negative control was treated with DMSO for 16hrs. The positive control had 10nM insulin for 3hrs within the 16hrs treatment of DMSO, and no serum. In the negative control there is minimal phosphorylation of RPS6 S235/S236 , while the positive control gives a 10-fold increase in RPS6 S235/236 phosphorylation. After adding 1μM of PF4708671, there is little to no change in the phosphorylation levels of RPS6. However, after 5μM, RPS6 phosphorylation is reduced by 80%. At 20μM and 40μM there is almost a 100% reduction in phosphorylation compared to when cells are treated with insulin. SEM was generated from an n of 3.



Figure 132. PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation of S1101 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent manner. The concentrations of P4708671 chosen to inhibit p70 S6K-1 based on figure 12 were  $10 \,\mu$ M and  $20 \mu$ M. Treatment of HepG2 cells with  $10 \mu$ M and  $20 \mu$ M of PF4708671 for 16hrs followed and by 3hrs of treatment with 10nM of insulin before the end of the 16hr PF4708671 treatment was enough to show a statistically significant decrease in IRS-1 S1101 phosphorylation by p70 S6K-1. While insulin does increase p70 S6K-1 activity in HepG2 cells (see Figure 12), this does not lead to an increase in the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101, but once p70 S6K-1 is inhibited in insulin stimulated HepG2

cells, the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101 is decreased considerably. The graph represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of 3 separate experiments that were performed in triplicate and were independently analyzed using a one-way ANOVA. Representative blots are shown beneath the graphs. \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p < 0.005.



Figure 3. PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation of S312 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent manner. HepG2 cells were treated with  $10\mu$ M and  $20\mu$ M of PF4708671 for a total of 16hrs with the last 3hrs of containing 10nM of insulin. followed by3hrs of treatment with 10nM of insulin before the end of the 16hr PF4708671 treatment. Each treatment exhibited a statistically significant decrease in IRS-1 S312 phosphorylation by p70 S6K-1 compared to cells treated with just insulin. Inhibiting p70 S6K-1 in insulin stimulated HepG2 cells with  $20\mu$ M of PF4708671, greatly decreases the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S312 by 70%. The graph represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of 3 separate experiments that were performed in triplicate and were independently analyzed using a one-way ANOVA. Representative blots are

shown beneath the graphs. \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p < 0.00



Figure 4. PF4708671 inhibits p70S6K-1, which leads to reduced phosphorylation of 636/S639 on IRS-1 in a dose dependent manner. HepG2 cells were treated for a total of 16hrs with 10 $\mu$ M and 20 $\mu$ M of PF4708671 for 16hrswith the last followed by 3hrs of treatment containing with 10nM of insulin before the end of the 16hr PF4708671. Both treatments led to a decrease in IRS-1 636/S639 phosphorylation by p70 S6K-1. Inhibiting p70 S6K-1 with 10 $\mu$ M led to a 30% decrease, while 20 $\mu$ M of PF4708671 led a 50% reduction in 636/S639 phosphorylation. The graph represents the mean ± SEM of 3 separate experiments that were

performed in triplicate and were independently analyzed using a one-way ANOVA.

Representative blots are shown beneath the graphs. \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p < 0.007.



**Figure 5. C646 inhibits p300, thus reducing the acetylation of H3 at K9 and K14 in a dose dependent manner.** To confirm the ability of C464 C646to inhibit p300, HepG2 cells were serum starved for 24hrs then treated with 10nM insulin and C646 (a selective p300 inhibitor). The negative control was treated for a total of 16hrs with DMSO for 16hrs followedand including sterile PBS for the last 3hrs. by 3hrs of sterile PBS before the end of the 16hr C646. The positive control either had 10nM insulin for 3hrs with 16hrs treatment of DMSO, and no serum. or no insulin, 16hrs treatment of DMSO, and 10% serum. After treatment with C646 for 16hrs there is no statistically significant decrease in H3 K9/K14 acetylation. However, after when treated with 5μM of C646 there is a 70% decrease compared to HepG2 cells treated with

insulin. Treatment with 10 $\mu$ M of C646 reduced the ability for p300 to acetylate H3 by almost 100%. SEM shown was generated from an n of 3.



Figure 6. Inhibition of p300 leads to reduced phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101 in a dose dependent manner. After being serum starved for 24hrs, HepG2 cells were treated with C646 for a total of 16hrs, with insulin included for the last 3hrs. and insulin for 3hrs before the end of the 16hr C646 treatment . IRS-1 S1101 phosphorylation decreased in a dose dependent manner.  $5\mu$ M of C646 caused a 40% decrease compared to HepG2 cells treated with insulin alone. Treatment with 10 $\mu$ M of C646 led to an 80% decrease in IRS-1 S1101 phosphorylation. The graph represents the mean ± SEM of 3 separate experiments that were performed in triplicate and were independently analyzed using a one-way ANOVA. Representative blots are shown beneath the graphs. \* = p < 0.01.



Figure 7. Inhibition of p300 leads to reduced phosphorylation of IRS-1 S312 in a dose dependent manner. HepG2 cells were starved of serum for 24hrs before treatment with C646 for a total of 16hrs with 3hrs of insulin treatment directly before sample collection. and insulin for 3hrs before the end of the 16hr C646 treatment Each increase in C646 concentration led to a statistically significant decrease in IRS-1 S312 phosphorylation by p70 S6K-1 compared to cells treated with just 10nM insulin. Inhibiting p300 with 5 $\mu$ M of C646 led to a 62% decrease in IRS-1 S312 phosphorylation, while 10 $\mu$ M of C646 led to a 75% decrease. The graph represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of 3 separate experiments that were performed in triplicate and were independently

analyzed using a one-way ANOVA. Representative blots are shown beneath the graphs. \* = p < 0.005.



#### Figure 8. Inhibition of p300 does not reduce the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S636/S639.

There was no statistically significant change in the phosphorylation status of IRS-1 S636/S639 when HepG2 cells were treated with C646 for 16hrs with 10nM insulin compared to cells treated with only 10nM insulin. Each treatment of insulin was for 3hrs within the 16hr treatment of C646 or DMSO for the negative control. The graph represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of 3 separate experiments that were performed in triplicate and were independently analyzed using a one-way ANOVA. Representative blots are shown beneath the graphs.



**Figure 9. C646 treatment leads to the positive regulation of RPS6.** After being serum starved for 24 hrs., HepGg2 cells were treated with C646 for 16rs and with insulin for 3hrs before the end of the 16hr C646 treatment. RPS6 phosphorylation of site 235/236 increased after treatment with insulin without C646 treatment. When the insulin stimulated HepG2 cells are treated with  $5\mu$ M and  $10\mu$ M of C646 there is a statistically significant increase in S235/236 RPS6 phosphorylation. At  $5\mu$ M RPS6 S235/236 phosphorylation increases 120-fold compared to the treatment with only insulin. While at  $10\mu$ M it increased by 250-fold, compared to with inulin treatment alone. The graph represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of 3 separate experiments that were performed in triplicate and were independently analyzed using a one-way ANOVA. Representative blots are shown beneath the graphs. \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p < 0.01



Figure 10. p300 activity does enhance the phosphorylation of IRS-1 by p70 S6K1 in vitro.

IRS1 S1101 is phosphorylated by p70 S6K1 on the 600-1245 IRS1 fragment (0.5µg) in the presence of ATP. This phosphorylation is enhanced by the addition of p300. The graph represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of 3 separate experiments that were independently analyzed using a one-way ANOVA. Representative blots are shown beneath the graphs. \* = p < 0.05, \*\* = p < 0.01



Figure 11. S6K-1 does not directly phosphorylate S636.

IRS-1 S636 does not get phosphorylated by p70 S6K1 in the presence of ATP nor does the presence or activity of p300 change that as is shown by both a kinase and mixed protein assay. The graph represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of 3 separate experiments that were independently analyzed using a one-way ANOVA. Representative blots are shown beneath the graphs.



#### Figure 12. p70 S6K1 activity has no effect on the acetylation status of IRS-1 A) IRS-1 600-

1245 fragment is acetylated by p300 in the presence of Acetyl CoA (A). This acetylation does not change in statistically significant manner upon the addition of S6K-1. The graph represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of 3 separate experiments HAT assays that were independently analyzed using a one-way ANOVA. Representative blots are shown beneath the graphs. B) Hep G2 immunoprecipitated IRS-1 is acetylated by p300 in the presence of Acetyl CoA (B). This acetylation does not change in a statistically significant manner upon the addition of S6K-1.



#### Preliminary results to future research

#### Figure 13. MK2206 inhibition AKT S473 in a dose dependent manner.

Treatment with MK2206 for 24hrs led to a dose dependent decrease in AKT phosphorylation. Insulin stimulated HepGg2 that were treated with MK2206 exhibited dose dependent decrease in AKT S473 phosphorylation compared cells with no treatment.



**Figure 14. p70 S6K-1 band shift as a representation of phosphorylation.** HepG2 cells were treated with 10nM insulin for 1hr which was adequate enough to stimulate the phosphorylation of p70 S6K-1.





Figure 15. p70 S6K-1 mutant constructs

Site directed mutagenesis was successful conducted to construct a constitutively inactive and constitutively active p70 S6K-1. The wild type T389 was mutated into either a glutamic acid (GAG) to depict a p70 S6K-1 that cannot be turned off. orThe wild type T389 was also mutated to an alanine (GCG) to depict a p70 S6K-1 construct that cannot be turned on. Sequencing results reveal that the constructs were adequately mutated.

Discussion

p70 S6K-1 directly phosphorylates S1101 but only promotes the phosphorylation of S636/639 and S312

Previous studies and our current study how shown that PF4708671 can successfully decreased RPS6 phosphorylation by selectively inhibiting p70 S6K-1. This was done to acquire the required dosage to effectively inhibit p70 S6K-1 for the assessment of IRS phosphorylation sites S312, S1101, and S636/639. The expectation was that PF4708671 would also lead to the reduction in S312, 636/639 and S1101 would have reduced phosphorylation upon treatment with PF4708671 in insulin stimulated HepG2 cells. Our The present cell culture findings corroborate what previous studies have shown, that p70 S6K-1 is required for the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S312, S636/639, and S1101. While the inhibition of p70 S6K-1 with 20µM of PF4708671 for 16hrs led to a decrease in the phosphorylation of S1101, S312, and S636, a 3hr treatment with 10nM insulin stimulation did not affect the phosphorylation status of S1101, S312, and S636, thus questioning whether p70 S6K-1 directly phosphorylates these serien sites.

#### p70 S6K-1 indirectly regulates S312 phosphorylation.

Studies have shown that stimulation by both amino acids and insulin leads to the phosphorylation of S312 (Rui et al., 2001; Greene et al., 2003; Carlson et al., 2004). In addition, amino acid stimulation seems to be the most potent stimulant for S312 phosphorylation. This points back to the problem with excess nutrient intake and why individuals with obesity, type 2 diabetes, and insulin resistance are the most commonly found to have phosphorylation of this site.

Interestingly, nutrient availability is not the only way catalyst for S312 can be phosphorylationed. Inflammation triggered by TNF- $\alpha$  can lead to S312 phosphorylation by JNK alone (Aguirre et al., 2000; Hirosumi et al., 2002). The results displayed have shown that apart from insulin and inflammation stimulated S312 phosphorylation, there is basal S312 phosphorylation that is decreased with the treatment of PF4708671. As previously mentionedThis is different from what previous studies have shown which is that the, phosphorylation of S312 is usually the determinant for the development and progression of insulin resistance and consequently degradation in an insulin resistant model. Also, studies have shown that the measurement of IRS-1 (S312) phosphorylation alone does not necessarily imply causality for IRS-1 degradation. S312 phosphorylation alone was shown to be enough to display the down regulation of IRS-1 in insulin stimulated cells (Greene et al., 2003). In these aforementioned studies, the phosphorylation of S312 in an non-insulin resistant model was not taken into consideration. However, Our current data reveals that it appears, that there is basal phosphorylation that can be decreased by the down regulation of p70 S6K-1 and that 10nM of insulin is not sufficient to create an insulin resistant model as was observed by the lack of increase in the phosphorylation of S1101, S312, and S636/639 with insulin stimulation (Figure 13-15). While it is evident that p70 S6K-1 activity can be significantly increased by 10nM of insulin as observed by an increase in RPS6 S235/236 phosphorylation, such a concentration of insulin is not enough to mimic insulin resistance in HepG2 cells. Taken together it is the increase in the phosphorylation of S312 from basal levels rather than merely identifying the presence of S312 phosphorylation in a basal state that could be is indicative of the down regulationdevelopment and progression of insulin resistance leading up to the degradation of IRS-1. mTORC1 may be the kinase responsible for insulin stimulated S312 phosphorylation in

87

an insulin resistant model, while S6K-1 is the key kinase responsible for basal phosphorylation of IRS-1 S312.-As a result, S312 should not be regarded as the sole site that determines whether a model is insulin resistant or not. , Additionally, and while JNK is the responsible for inflammation stimulated S312 phosphorylation. As a result, S312 should not be regarded as the sole site that determines whether a model is insulin resistant or not.

One Some studies study implyied that p70 S6K-1 phosphorylates S312, while anothers denyied its direct involvement using a kinase assay. This makes sense as other studies have already shown that other kinases such as mTORC1 and JNK (inflammation stimulated phosphorylation) phosphorylate S312. Our results do not show any direct relationship between S312 phosphorylation and p70 S6K-1 but rather they show an indirect influence in the regulation of S312 by observing the absence of p70 S6K-1, which leads to a decrease in basal S312 phosphorylation. All things considered; it could be that p70 S6K-1 may phosphorylate a kinase that is responsible for directly phosphorylating IRS-1 S312. This is corroborated by one study that established that p70 S6K-1 prefers to phosphorylates a serine or threonine preceded by arginine at positions -5 and -3 (RXRXX S/T sites), such as IRS-1 S307, S527, and S1101, in target proteins as opposed to serine or threonine sites followed by proline residues, such as IRS-1 S312, S616, and S636/639.<sup>turnover paper</sup>. All in all, further research will need to be conducted to reveal exactly how S6K-1 influences S312 phosphorylation.

#### p70 S6K-1 indirectly regulates S636/639 phosphorylation.

Increased amino acid availability inhibits insulin stimulated glucose regulation in human skeletal muscles via the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S312 and S636/639. As a result, there is decreased

activation of PI3K (Tremblay et al., 2005). In addition, other studies have previously shown that hyperinsulinemia alone can increase the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S636/639. However, in most studies, S6K-1 is observed in supraphysiological insulin concentrations as high as 100nM or as low as 20nM in 3T3-L1 mouse embryo. In this study, the concentration of insulin used to observe p70 S6K-1 and its phosphorylation of IRS-1 is 10nM in human liver HepG2 cells meaning that this phosphorylation may be dose, tissue, and organism dependent. Not only is insulin stimulated S636/639 phosphorylation dependent on the aforementioned factors, but it also is kinase dependent. For example, when mTORC1, or ERK1 phosphorylate S636/639, IRS-1 is negatively regulated, whereas phosphorylation by ROCK1 leads to a positive regulation of IRS-1, which promotes insulin sensitivity. Therefore, the phosphorylation of S312 does not necessary mean that IRS-1 will be down regulated since its phosphorylation is dependent on specific conditions and treatment with specific kinases. For example, ERK1 will only phosphorylate IRS-1 S636/639 in an insulin resistant model.<sup>50, 51</sup>. It appears that p70 S6K-1 is similar to mTORC1 and ERK1 in that it negatively regulates IRS-1, however the difference is that it does not directly phosphorylate S636/639 as is revealed by the kinase assay performed in the current research. This is not unusual as JNK is another kinase that also negatively regulates IRS-1 by indirectly promoting S636/639 phosphorylation. Since selectively inhibiting p70 S6K-1 does prevent the basal phosphorylation of S636/639, perhaps p70 S6K-1 regulates another kinase that is responsible for the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S636/639.

However, understanding the phosphorylation of this site is already complex enough especially since the site can be phosphorylated to either negatively or positively regulate IRS-1. Look for an example of a completely different site in a different pathway that can be negative and positively regulated on the same site. What makes IRS-1 S636/639 regulation even more complex is that it

89

has been shown that the phosphorylation of S270, a site most proximal to the PTB domain, by p70 S6K-1 can prime the phosphorylation of S636/639 among two other sites. However, what the study elucidated is that after the phosphorylation of S270, p70 S6K-1 directly phosphorylates S636/639, which our kinase assay revealed does not happen. This makes sense as p70 S6K-1 does not usually phosphorylate serine or threonine sites followed by proline residues.<sup>Turnover paper</sup> We suggest that p70 S6K-1 may prime the phosphorylation of S636/639 by a different kinase. Therefore, perhaps the p70 S6K-1 dependent negative regulation of IRS-1 via S636/639 phosphorylation is a multistep process that is dependent on both stimulus and targeting kinase. Further research will need to be conducted to fully understand the process by which S636/639 is phosphorylated.

#### p70 S6K-1 directly regulates S1101 phosphorylation.

Unlike S312 and S636/639, S1101 has been shown to be directly phosphorylated by p70 S6K-1. While studies have shown this direct relationship, we have yet to see if there is any basal phosphorylation that is diminished by the inhibition of insulin stimulated p70 S6K-1 by PF4708671. A kinase assay corroborated that p70 S6K-1 directly phosphorylates S1101, but not S636. Treatment with 20  $\mu$ M of PF4708671 in insulin stimulated HepG2 diminished the phosphorylation of S1101, S312, and S636/639. Taken together this is indicative of the ability of p70 S6K-1 to directly impact S1101 and indirectly affect the phosphorylation of S636 and S312 which is consistent with previously published data. In addition, S1101 is one of the preferred RxRxxS/T sites that p70 S6K-1 phosphorylates, thus validating the reason why S1101 is directly phosphorylated unlike S312 and S636/639.

#### Inhibition of p70 S6K-1 decreases basal phosphorylation of S1101

One study has shown that not only does p70 S6K-1 directly phosphorylate S1101, but that S1101 phosphorylation is also increased in a 100nM insulin stimulated L6 rat myoblasts, Fao rat hepatocytes, and 3T3-L1 mouse embryos. Interestingly, in both the L6 and 3T3-L1 cells there was baseline phosphorylation of S1101 before stimulation with insulin. Then, after treatment with 100nM of insulin there was a slight increase in S1101 phosphorylation in L6 and 3T3-L1 cells. Moreover, supplementing with amino acids to insulin stimulated cells led to a significant increase in S1101 phosphorylation. (58). On the other hand, another study revealed that there is no change in the phosphorylation status of S1101 before and after insulin treatment in insulin sensitive human lean skeletal muscles. In fact, S636/639, is also among the sites that also displays no change in phosphorylation in an insulin sensitive model. (59). Our data corroborates this finding, as there was no change in S1101 phosphorylation in insulin stimulated human HepG2 cells. This is quite interesting considering p70 S6K-1 activity is increased with insulin stimulation especially when simultaneously supplemented with amino acids. We The current work elucidate suggests that the amount of insulin added, the organism, the supplementation of amino acids, and whether the model is insulin resistant or insulin sensitive impacts whether or not S1101 will be phosphorylated. Therefore, insulin can lead to an increase in S1101 from its basal phosphorylation. Moreover, whether p70 S6K-1 was responsible for the increase in S1101 phosphorylation or not, its absence negatively impacts S1101 phosphorylation.

It appears that S1101 may be part of a multistep process similar to what was discussed in S636/639 phosphorylation. It has been shown that mutating S270 to A270 prevented p70 S6K-1 from interacting with IRS-1 thus preventing S1101 from being phosphorylated by p70 S6K-1

itself. It would be interesting to see if there is no change in the phosphorylation of S270 in an insulin sensitive model after treatment with insulin since previous studies focus mostly on insulin resistant models. It was only in 2017 that the inhibition of p300 was tied to improved insulin signaling. p300 was shown to acetylate specific sites on IRS-1, leading to insulin resistance.

#### START HERE

Inhibiting p300 from acetylating IRS-1 leads to a decreased in the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S312 and S1101 without a decrease in p70 S6K-1., but not S636.

It was only in 2017 that the inhibition of p300 was tied to improved insulin signaling. p300 was shown to acetylate specific sites on IRS-1, leading to insulin resistance. A recent study revealed that inhibition of p300 by C646 increased insulin sensitivity by promoting the interaction between the IR and IRS-1. Interestingly, out results reveal that C646 also reduces the negative regulation of IRS-1 elicited by the phosphorylation of IRS-1 at S312 and S1101, but not S636. Thus, not only is C646 promoting the tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1 by increasing the IR and IRS-1 interaction, but the inhibition of the negative regulation of IRS-1 also promote the tyrosine phosphorylation. Previous studies indicated that C646 also led to glucose tolerance in mice that were fed a HFD and increased PI3K activity in Hepa 1-6 cells. The effect p300 has on IRS-1 may be tissue specific. A HFD induces p300 activity in liver tissue but not adipose and muscle tissue. In addition, C646 augmented AKT phosphorylation exclusively in liver tissue but not muscle or adipose tissue by increasing the association of IRS-1 to the  $\beta$  subunit of IR. It is not known why the activity of p300 on IRS-1 is tissue specific.

Therefore, the inability of p300 to acetylate IRS-1 has a negative effect on the phosphorylation of S312 and S1101, but the same cannot be said for S636/639 phosphorylation. The lack of an effect on S636/639 phosphorylation by p300 inhibition may be because when these serine residues are phosphorylated, it can lead to either a positive or negative regulation of IRS-1 different kinases.<sup>50</sup> . For example, when mTORC1or ERK1 phosphorylate S636/639, IRS-1 is negatively regulated, whereas phosphorylation by ROCK1, a suppressor or inflammatory cell migration, leads to a positive regulation of IRS-1, thus promoting insulin sensitivity.<sup>50</sup> F.Further investigation is necessary to understand S636/639 phosphorylation by these different kinases specifically when cells have been treated with C646, especially because p70 S6K-1 is not the direct target kinase as was shown by the kinas assay. Taken together, it appears that S636/639 phosphorylation is promoted by but not performed by p70 S6K-1, while the in ability of p300 to acetylate IRS-1 does not affect S636/639 phosphorylation status.

#### The Acetylation of IRS-1 by p300 enhances IRS-1 S1101 phosphorylation by p70 S6K-1.

On the other hand, not only Our current study has revealed that does the inhibition nability of p300, towhich prevents phosphorylate IRS-1 acetyla,tion leads to decreased phosphorylation of S1101., In addition, the presence of p300 during the phosphorylation enhances the S1101 phosphorylation by S6K-1. While it is not known exactly how this enhancement occurs, such a regulation has been seen before where one posttranslational modification influences another. Studies have shown that the phosphorylation of H3 on S10 can prime its acetylation at K14 by KAT Gnc5. When protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) is overexpressed, there is a decrease in the acetylation of K14. While the phosphorylation of S1101 is not dependent on acetylation, acetylation does augment S1101 phosphorylation in a kinase assay.

Studies have shown that p300 does acetylate p70 S6K-1 at K516, the outcome of this acetylation has not been explored. To ensure that the Therefore, an assumption could be made that the effects of C646 on IRS-1 serine sites are not due to a negative regulation of p70 S6K-1 by p300., However, in our study, we were able to look at the effect C646 has on RPS6 activity was assessed. Our study shows that the inhibition of p300 via C646 dramatically increases RPS6 phosphorylation compared to only with insulin stimulation. Consequently, this means an increase in the activity of its upstream activator p70 S6K-1. This suggests that p300 activity usually diminishes the phosphorylation of RPS6. Therefore, C646 increases RPS6 phosphorylation while effectively decreasing IRS-1 S312 and S1101 phosphorylation in insulin stimulated HepG2 cells. As previously stated, C646 increases insulin sensitivity by increasing IR and IRS-1 interaction, while the current study demonstrates that the negative regulation of IRS-1 is also inhibited while allowing the insulin signaling to still occur. Further research will need to be conducted to understand the exact mechanism that leads to decreased S312 and S1101 phosphorylation but not S636/639 when cells are treated with C646.
## Conclusions and Future perspectives

Insulin resistance is commonly characterized as a precursor to type 2 diabetes. However, insulin resistance is a risk factor to other metabolic diseases such as metabolic syndrome, a multifactorial condition described by a cluster of cardiometabolic risk factors: abdominal obesity, high blood pressure, high triglyceride levels, low high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, and high blood sugar. Metabolic syndrome is also called insulin resistance syndrome or syndrome x. Previous studies have studied examined the dysregulation of IRS-1 in models that assess either obesity, HFD, or insulin resistance. All these aforementioned outcomes are the main components of the development of metabolic syndrome. The dysregulation of IRS-1 may mostly be studied in insulin resistant models; however, it can also be seen in obesity and HFD. And in these studies, C646 has been shown as a possible treatment for all 3. The mechanism by which these three risk factors lead to the dysregulation of IRS-1 is the same. It involves but is not limited to increased acetylation and serine phosphorylation on IRS-1. Since metabolic syndrome affects 100 million Americans, and since its development leads to complications such as coronary heart disease (CHD), stroke, and type 2 diabetes, research in new treatment plans and interventions is important. So far one of the most cost-effective treatment is reduced caloric intake which directly impacts blood sugar, amino acid, and triglyceride levels. However, in America, treatment that involves change in lifestyle choices is usually less preferred than taking medications. Therefore, C646 could be a potential treatment for metabolic syndrome, however, p300 acetylates more than 80 known substrates and interacts with more than 411 proteins, thus its inhibition by C646 may be more detrimental than helpful. P300 has been identified as pertinent for the regulation of many genes, it is also known to be pivotal not only in the regulation of DNA transcription, but also in DNA repair, development, apoptosis, and innate

immune response. <sup>pdf file on iPad</sup> p300 can either promote or repress transcription depending on the target gene.

There needs to be a balance between the acetylation and deacetylation of proteins. For example, p300 activates transcription and decondenses chromatin by acetylating H3K14 and Sirtuin (Sirt) 2, a NAD-dependent deacetylase, removes this acetylation. In this case, the absence of p300 would prevent this acetylation. There are many acetyltransferases and one might think they could pick up the slackcompensate for p300 in its absence and in the acetylateion of H3K14 in the absence of p300. However, whilech there are other acetyltransferases, the absence of p300 has been shown to be detrimental causing issues such as neurodegenerative diseases, cancers, disorder of sex development (DSD) or even death in embryos lacking p300.<sup>pdffromipad</sup> Therefore, the complete absence of p300 is not ideal. In order for C646 treatment to effective, the treatment could either be dose dependent or p300 could be regulated in order to prevent its localization to the cell membrane where IRS-1 and the IR are expressed found during insulin signaling. So far at a dose of 10-20µM, C646 leads to increased IRS-1 and IRS interaction, increased tyrosine phosphorylation, and decreased serine phosphorylation. However, a dose of 10-20µM is still way is too high and thus not safeto remain be physiologically relevant. It is not fully understood how p300 shuttles from the nucleus to the cytoplasm, but it is presumed that p300 interacts with a protein that is going to be localized in the cytoplasm. On the other hand, its return to the nucleus is due to its nuclear localization signal (NLS), which also allows it to shuttle other proteins with it into the nucleus.

One study revealed that administering a HFD led to an increase in LPS which led to an increase in p300. This induction did not change p300 mRNA levels but increased p300 protein levels by reducing the ubiquitination and degradation. Interestingly, p300 is mostly a nuclear protein,

however, after LPS induction, p300 cytoplasmic protein levels increase greatly. LPS induction leads to increase in active X-box binding protein 1 (XBP1), a transcription factor responsible for the regulation of genes that are involved in cellular stress response and immune system function. XBP1 is usually activated with endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress that can be triggered by a variety of stimuli, including LPS of which LPS induces. Therefore, when a HFD is administered there is ER stress which then leads to the activation of XBP1 which in turn results in increased cytoplasmic p300. Interestingly, the absence of XPB1 in mice that are fed a HFD does not lead to an increase in cytoplasmic p300. Exactly how XBP1 is important for the expression of p300 in the cytoplasm is unknown. However, we elucidate that it is possible that either XBP1 is responsible for keeping p300 in the cytoplasm whereas and a different, as yet unidentified protein, shuttles p300 into cytoplasm is unknown. Alternatively, or XBP1 both could brings p300 into the cytoplasm and keeps its there thus leading to the acetylation of cytoplasmic proteins. Either way the presence of p300 in the cytoplasm allows it to be available to acetylate IRS-1. And since the presence of p300 enhances the phosphorylation of IRS-1 S1101, disrupting its transport to the cytoplasm could be a potential treatment.

Interestingly, XBP1 mRNA make two proteins, XBP1U and XBP1. While XBP1 only has an NLS, XBP1U has both an NLS and a nuclear export signal (NES). Thus, XBP1U is responsible for the cytoplasmic localization of XBP1. This complex maybe exactly how p300 makes its way to the cytoplasm.

Another, perspective involves the phosphorylation of p300. P300 may go through a posttranslational modification that leads to its export from the nucleus to the cytoplasm. There are some posttranslational modifications of p300 whose end result is not fully understood. Such an example includes the phosphorylation of p300 at S2271, S2279, S2291, and S2315 by

mTORC1. Future research will look into the phosphorylation of p300 by mTORROC1 and how that is connected to the acetylation of IRS-1 by p300. We need to look into whether phosphorylation of p300 by We elucidate The current work suggests that when that insulin signaling is taking place that mTORC1 has any effect on the ability of p300 to acetylate IRS-1. phosphorylates p300 which will probably have already been shuttled to the cytoplasm probably by XBP1-XBP1U complex, as a negative feedback in instances where the stimulation began due to insulin resistance or LPS induction. Thus, we concluded that the dysregulation of IRS-1 that is stimulated by a high caloric intake or HFD, whether insulin, aminnio acid, or LPS stimulated, leads to down regulation of IRS-1 as has been shown by previous studies can be prevented through the inhibition of both acetylation and serine phosphorylation of IRS-1, which can both be reversed by the administration of C646. PF4708671 still remains as a potential treatment for the dysregulation of IRS-1 caused by insulin resistance, however, further research will need to be done to confirm whether it inhibition serine phosphorylation will also have as any effect on the acetylation of IRS-1. Our HAT assay from immunoprecipitated IRS-1 revealed that the presence of active p70 S6K-1 does not change the acetylation status of IRS-1 even though the presence of active p300 enhances the phosphorylation of IRS-1.

The regulation of IRS-1 through acetylation is fairly new, thus further research in this area will be valuable in the are of metabolic diseases. The crosstalk the phosphorylation and acetylation of IRS has been revealed in this paper and further research is necessary to further understand exactly how p300 acetylation of IRS-1 enhances the phosphorylation of IRS-1 by p70 S6K-1. Known this fact may be exactly what is needed to specifically target p300 and IRS-1 interaction without disrupting the other pathways in which p300 is involved.

## **Bibliography**

1. White MF, Maron R, Kahn CR. Insulin rapidly stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation of a mr-185,000 protein in intact cells. *Nature*. 1985;318(6042):183-186.

https://www.nature.com/articles/318183a0. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1038/318183a0.

2. Shemer J, Adamo M, Wilson GL, Heffez D, Zick Y, LeRoith D. Insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I stimulate a common endogenous phosphoprotein substrate (pp185) in intact neuroblastoma cells. *J Biol Chem.* 1987;262(32):15476-15482. Accessed Jan 25, 2023.

3. White MF, Stegmann EW, Dull TJ, Ullrich A, Kahn CR. Characterization of an endogenous substrate of the insulin receptor in cultured cells. *J Biol Chem*. 1987;262(20):9769-9777. Accessed Jan 25, 2023.

4. Paz K, Hemi R, LeRoith D, et al. A molecular basis for insulin resistance. elevated serine/threonine phosphorylation of IRS-1 and IRS-2 inhibits their binding to the juxtamembrane region of the insulin receptor and impairs their ability to undergo insulin-induced tyrosine phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem.* 1997;272(47):29911-29918. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.47.29911.

5. Hubbard SR, Wei L, Hendrickson WA. Crystal structure of the tyrosine kinase domain of the human insulin receptor. *Nature*. 1994;372(6508):746-754.

https://www.nature.com/articles/372746a0. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1038/372746a0.

 Wei L, Hubbard SR, Hendrickson WA, Ellis L. Expression, characterization, and crystallization of the catalytic core of the human insulin receptor protein-tyrosine kinase domain. *J Biol Chem.* 1995;270(14):8122-8130. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.14.8122.

Hubbard SR. The insulin receptor: Both a prototypical and atypical receptor tyrosine kinase.
 *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*. 2013;5(3):a008946. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi:
 10.1101/cshperspect.a008946.

 Youngren JF. Regulation of insulin receptor function. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2007;64(7-8):873-891. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1007/s00018-007-6359-9.

9. Kaburagi Y, Yamamoto-Honda R, Tobe K, et al. The role of the NPXY motif in the insulin receptor in tyrosine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate-1 and shc. *Endocrinology*. 1995;136(8):3437-3443. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1210/endo.136.8.7543044.

10. Rajala RVS, Chan MD. Identification of a NPXY motif in growth factor receptor-bound protein 14 (Grb14) and its interaction with the phosphotyrosine-binding (PTB) domain of IRS-1. *Biochemistry*. 2005;44(22):7929-7935. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1021/bi0500271.

11. White MF. *Atlas of diabetes*. 4th ed. New York: Springer; 2012:18-38.
<u>https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/978-1-4614-1028-7.pdf</u>. Accessed Jan 25, 2023.
10.1007/978-1-4614-1028-7.

12. Esposito DL, Li Y, Cama A, Quon MJ. Tyr(612) and tyr(632) in human insulin receptor substrate-1 are important for full activation of insulin-stimulated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase

activity and translocation of GLUT4 in adipose cells. *Endocrinology*. 2001;142(7):2833-2840. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1210/endo.142.7.8283.

Hodakoski C, Hopkins BD, Barrows D, et al. Regulation of PTEN inhibition by the pleckstrin homology domain of P-REX2 during insulin signaling and glucose homeostasis.
 PNAS. 2013;111(1):155-160. <u>https://www.pnas.org/doi/full/10.1073/pnas.1213773111#.</u>
 Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1213773111.</u>

14. Stephens L, Anderson K, Stokoe D, et al. Protein kinase B kinases that mediate phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate-dependent activation of protein kinase B. *Science*.
1998;279(5351):710-714. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1126/science.279.5351.710.

 Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, Sabatini DM. Phosphorylation and regulation of akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. *Science*. 2005;307(5712):1098-1101. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1126/science.1106148.

16. Alessi DR, Andjelkovic M, Caudwell B, et al. Mechanism of activation of protein kinase B by insulin and IGF-1. *EMBO J*. 1996;15(23):6541-6551.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC452479/. Accessed Jan 25, 2023.

17. De Meyts P. The insulin receptor and its signal transduction network. In: Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, et al, eds. *Endotext*. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc.; 2000. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK378978/. Accessed Jan 25, 2023.

18. Sanvee GM, Bouitbir J, Krähenbühl S. Insulin prevents and reverts simvastatin-induced toxicity in C2C12 skeletal muscle cells. *Sci Rep.* 2019;9(1):1-10.

https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-019-43938-5. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-43938-5.

 Luu W, Sharpe LJ, Stevenson J, Brown AJ. Akt acutely activates the cholesterogenic transcription factor SREBP-2. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2012;1823(2):458-464. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.09.017.

20. Porstmann T, Santos CR, Griffiths B, et al. SREBP activity is regulated by mTORC1 and contributes to akt-dependent cell growth. *Cell Metab.* 2008;8(3-3):224-236. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2593919/.</u> Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2008.07.007.

21. Chang L, Chiang S, Saltiel AR. Insulin signaling and the regulation of glucose transport. *Mol Med*. 2004;10(7):65-71. <u>https://molmed.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.2119/2005-00029.Saltiel.</u>
Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.2119/2005-00029.Saltiel.

22. Trexler AJ, Taraska JW. Regulation of insulin exocytosis by calcium-dependent protein kinase C in beta cells. *Cell Calcium*. 2017;67:1-10.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5764196/. Accessed Jul 6, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.ceca.2017.07.008.

23. Weiss M, Steiner DF, Philipson LH. Insulin biosynthesis, secretion, structure, and structureactivity relationships. In: Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, et al, eds. *Endotext*. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc.; 2000. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK279029/.</u> Accessed Jul 6, 2021. 24. Figueiredo VC, Markworth JF, Cameron-Smith D. Considerations on mTOR regulation at serine 2448: Implications for muscle metabolism studies. *Cell Mol Life Sci*. 2017;74(14):2537-2545. Accessed Aug 17, 2021. doi: 10.1007/s00018-017-2481-5.

25. Sabatini D. Twenty-five years of mTOR: Uncovering the link from nutrients to growth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2017;114:201716173. Accessed Aug 17,
2021. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1716173114.

26. Mi W, Ye Q, Liu S, She Q. AKT inhibition overcomes rapamycin resistance by enhancing the repressive function of PRAS40 on mTORC1/4E-BP1 axis. *Oncotarget*. 2015;6(16):13962-13977. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25961827.</u> doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3920.

27. Allison D, Antoine L, Ballinger S, et al. Aging and energetics' 'Top 40' future research opportunities 2010-2013. *F1000Research*. 2014;3:219. Accessed Aug 17, 2021. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.5212.1.

 28. Eberlé D, Hegarty B, Bossard P, Ferré P, Foufelle F. SREBP transcription factors: Master regulators of lipid homeostasis. *Biochimie*. 2004;86(11):839-848. Accessed Aug 17, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2004.09.018.

29. ROSNER M, HENGSTSCHLÄGER M. Nucleocytoplasmic localization of p70 S6K1, but not of its isoforms p85 and p31, is regulated by TSC2 mTOR. *Oncogene*. 2011;30(44):4509-4522. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.165. doi: 10.1038/onc.2011.165.

30. Sridharan S, Basu A. Distinct roles of mTOR targets S6K1 and S6K2 in breast cancer. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;21(4). Accessed Aug 17, 2021. doi: 10.3390/ijms21041199.

31. Zhang J, Guo J, Qin X, et al. The p85 isoform of the kinase S6K1 functions as a secreted oncoprotein to facilitate cell migration and tumor growth. *Sci Signal*. 2018;11(523). Accessed Aug 17, 2021. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aao1052.

32. Biever A, Valjent E, Puighermanal E. Ribosomal protein S6 phosphorylation in the nervous system: From regulation to function. *Front Mol Neurosci.* 2015;0.
<u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnmol.2015.00075/full.</u> Accessed Aug 17, 2021.
doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2015.00075.

33. Copps KD, White MF. Regulation of insulin sensitivity by serine/threonine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate proteins IRS1 and IRS2. *Diabetologia*. 2012;55(10):2565-2582. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4011499/. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1007/s00125-012-2644-8.

34. Myers MG, Mendez R, Shi P, Pierce JH, Rhoads R, White MF. The COOH-terminal tyrosine phosphorylation sites on IRS-1 bind SHP-2 and negatively regulate insulin signaling. *J Biol Chem.* 1998;273(41):26908-26914. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.41.26908.

35. Luo M, Reyna S, Wang L, et al. Identification of insulin receptor substrate 1 serine/threonine phosphorylation sites using mass spectrometry analysis: Regulatory role of serine 1223. *Endocrinology*. 2005;146(10):4410-4416. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1210/en.2005-0260.

36. Tanti J, Jager J. Cellular mechanisms of insulin resistance: Role of stress-regulated serine kinases and insulin receptor substrates (IRS) serine phosphorylation. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*.
2009;9(6):753-762. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2009.07.004.

37. Giraud J, Leshan R, Lee Y, White MF. Nutrient-dependent and insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate-1 on serine 302 correlates with increased insulin signaling. *J Biol Chem.* 2004;279(5):3447-3454. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M308631200.

38. Rajan MR, Fagerholm S, Jönsson C, Kjølhede P, Turkina MV, Strålfors P. Phosphorylation of IRS1 at serine 307 in response to insulin in human adipocytes is not likely to be catalyzed by p70 ribosomal S6 kinase. *PLOS ONE*. 2013;8(4):e59725.

https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0059725. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0059725.

39. Gual P, Le Marchand-Brustel Y, Tanti J. Positive and negative regulation of insulin signaling through IRS-1 phosphorylation. *Biochimie*. 2005;87(1):99-109. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2004.10.019.

40. Xiao H, Liu M. Atypical protein kinase C in cell motility. *Cell Mol Life Sci*.
2013;70(17):3057-3066. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1007/s00018-012-1192-1.

41. Mellor H, Parker PJ. The extended protein kinase C superfamily. *Biochem J*. 1998;332 (Pt 2):281-292. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1042/bj3320281.

42. Garcia-Concejo A, Larhammar D. Protein kinase C family evolution in jawed vertebrates. *Dev Biol.* 2021;479:77-90. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2021.07.013.

43. Nawaratne R, Gray A, Jørgensen CH, Downes CP, Siddle K, Sethi JK. Regulation of insulin receptor substrate 1 pleckstrin homology domain by protein kinase C: Role of serine 24

phosphorylation. *Mol Endocrinol*. 2006;20(8):1838-1852. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1210/me.2005-0536.

44. Kim J, Yeh DC, Ver M, et al. Phosphorylation of Ser24 in the pleckstrin homology domain of insulin receptor substrate-1 by mouse pelle-like kinase/interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase: Cross-talk between inflammatory signaling and insulin signaling that may contribute to insulin resistance. *J Biol Chem.* 2005;280(24):23173-23183. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M501439200.

45. Jiang Y, Fleet JC. Effect of phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate activated signaling pathways on 1α, 25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 regulated human 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 24-hydroxylase gene expression in differentiated caco-2 cells. *J Cell Biochem*. 2012;113(5):1599-1607. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4536811/. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1002/jcb.24028.

46. Tahara E, Kadara H, Lacroix L, Lotan D, Lotan R. Activation of protein kinase C by phorbol
12-myristate 13-acetate suppresses the growth of lung cancer cells through KLF6 induction. *Cancer Biology & Therapy*. 2009;8(9):801-807. <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/cbt.8.9.8186</u>. Accessed
Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.4161/cbt.8.9.8186.

47. Oriente F, Andreozzi F, Romano C, et al. Protein kinase C-alpha regulates insulin action and degradation by interacting with insulin receptor substrate-1 and 14-3-3 epsilon. *J Biol Chem*. 2005;280(49):40642-40649. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M508570200.

48. Liberman Z, Plotkin B, Tennenbaum T, Eldar-Finkelman H. Coordinated phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate-1 by glycogen synthase kinase-3 and protein kinase C betaII in the

diabetic fat tissue. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*. 2008;294(6):1169. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00050.2008.

49. Li Y, Soos TJ, Li X, et al. Protein kinase C theta inhibits insulin signaling by phosphorylating IRS1 at ser(1101). *J Biol Chem.* 2004;279(44):45304-45307. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C400186200.

50. Greene MW, Morrice N, Garofalo RS, Roth RA. Modulation of human insulin receptor substrate-1 tyrosine phosphorylation by protein kinase cdelta. *Biochem J*. 2004;378(Pt 1):105-116. Accessed Jan 26, 2023. doi: 10.1042/BJ20031493.

51. Lee S, Lynn EG, Kim J, Quon MJ. Protein kinase C-ζ phosphorylates insulin receptor substrate-1, -3, and -4 but not -2: Isoform specific determinants of specificity in insulin signaling. *Endocrinology*. 2008;149(5):2451-2458.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2329288/. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1210/en.2007-1595.

52. Moeschel K, Beck A, Weigert C, et al. Protein kinase C-zeta-induced phosphorylation of Ser318 in insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1) attenuates the interaction with the insulin receptor and the tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1. *J Biol Chem.* 2004;279(24):25157-25163. Accessed Nov 15, 2022. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M402477200.

53. Beck A, Moeschel K, Deeg M, et al. Identification of an in vitroin vitro insulin receptor substrate-1 phosphorylation site by negative-ion muLC/ES-API-CID-MS hybrid scan technique. *J Am Soc Mass Spectrom*. 2003;14(4):401-405. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1016/s1044-0305(03)00122-3.

54. Sommerfeld MR, Metzger S, Stosik M, Tennagels N, Eckel J. In vitroIn vitro phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate 1 by protein kinase C-zeta: Functional analysis and identification of novel phosphorylation sites. *Biochemistry*. 2004;43(19):5888-5901. Accessed Nov 15, 2022. doi: 10.1021/bi049640v.

55. Zhang J, Gao Z, Yin J, Quon MJ, Ye J. S6K directly phosphorylates IRS-1 on ser-270 to promote insulin resistance in response to TNF-(alpha) signaling through IKK2. *J Biol Chem*. 2008;283(51):35375-35382. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M806480200.

56. Shah OJ, Hunter T. Turnover of the active fraction of IRS1 involves raptor-mTOR- and S6K1-dependent serine phosphorylation in cell culture models of tuberous sclerosis. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2006;26(17):6425-6434. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01254-05.

57. Giraud J, Haas M, Feener EP, et al. Phosphorylation of Irs1 at SER-522 inhibits insulin signaling. *Mol Endocrinol*. 2007;21(9):2294-2302. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1210/me.2007-0159.

 Langlais P, Yi Z, Finlayson J, et al. Global IRS-1 phosphorylation analysis in insulin resistance. *Diabetologia*. 2011;54(11):2878-2889. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1007/s00125-011-2271-9.

59. Tremblay F, Brûlé S, Hee Um S, et al. Identification of IRS-1 ser-1101 as a target of S6K1 in nutrient- and obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2007;104(35):14056-14061. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1950339/.</u> Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0706517104.

60. Jiang S, Messina JL. Role of inhibitory κB kinase and c-jun NH2-terminal kinase in the development of hepatic insulin resistance in critical illness diabetes. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*. 2011;301(3):G454-G463.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3174535/. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00148.2011.

61. Aguirre V, Uchida T, Yenush L, Davis R, White MF. The c-jun NH(2)-terminal kinase promotes insulin resistance during association with insulin receptor substrate-1 and phosphorylation of ser(307). *J Biol Chem.* 2000;275(12):9047-9054. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.12.9047.

62. Aguirre V, Werner ED, Giraud J, Lee YH, Shoelson SE, White MF. Phosphorylation of Ser307 in insulin receptor substrate-1 blocks interactions with the insulin receptor and inhibits insulin action. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277(2):1531-1537. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M101521200.

63. Gao Z, Hwang D, Bataille F, et al. Serine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate 1 by inhibitor kappa B kinase complex. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277(50):48115-48121. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M209459200.

64. Hotamisligil GS, Peraldi P, Budavari A, Ellis R, White MF, Spiegelman BM. IRS-1mediated inhibition of insulin receptor tyrosine kinase activity in TNF-alpha- and obesityinduced insulin resistance. *Science*. 1996;271(5249):665-668. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1126/science.271.5249.665. 65. Rui L, Aguirre V, Kim JK, et al. Insulin/IGF-1 and TNF-α stimulate phosphorylation of IRS-1 at inhibitory Ser307 via distinct pathways. *J Clin Invest*. 2001;107(2):181-189. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC199174/. Accessed Jan 29, 2023.

66. Usui I, Imamura T, Babendure JL, et al. G protein-coupled receptor kinase 2 mediates endothelin-1-induced insulin resistance via the inhibition of both galphaq/11 and insulin receptor substrate-1 pathways in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Mol Endocrinol*. 2005;19(11):2760-2768. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1210/me.2004-0429.

67. Morino K, Petersen KF, Shulman GI. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in humans and their potential links with mitochondrial dysfunction. *Diabetes*. 2006;55 Suppl 2:S9-S15. Accessed Aug 17, 2021. doi: 10.2337/db06-S002.

68. Peng J, He L. IRS posttranslational modifications in regulating insulin signaling. *J Mol Endocrinol.* 2018;60(1):R1-R8. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5732852/.</u>
Accessed May 30, 2021. doi: 10.1530/JME-17-0151.

69. Cao J, Peng J, An H, et al. Endotoxemia-mediated activation of acetyltransferase P300 impairs insulin signaling in obesity. *Nat Commun.* 2017;8(1):1-12.

https://www.nature.com/articles/s41467-017-00163-w. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00163-w.

70. Kaiser C, James SR. Acetylation of insulin receptor substrate-1 is permissive for tyrosine phosphorylation. *BMC Biol*. 2004;2:23.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC529456/. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1186/1741-7007-2-23.

71. Whyte P, Williamson NM, Harlow E. Cellular targets for transformation by the adenovirus E1A proteins. *Cell*. 1989;56(1):67-75. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(89)90984-7.

72. Dancy BM, Cole PA. Protein lysine acetylation by p300/CBP. *Chem Rev.* 2015;115(6):2419-2452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/cr500452k.</u> Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1021/cr500452k.

73. Yee SP, Branton PE. Detection of cellular proteins associated with human adenovirus type 5 early region 1A polypeptides. *Virology*. 1985;147(1):142-153. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1016/0042-6822(85)90234-x.

74. Iyer NG, Özdag H, Caldas C. p300/CBP and cancer. *Oncogene*. 2004;23(24):4225-4231. https://www.nature.com/articles/1207118. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1207118.

75. Maksimoska J, Segura-Peña D, Cole PA, Marmorstein R. Structure of the p300 histone acetyltransferase bound to acetyl-coenzyme A and its analogues. *Biochemistry*.
2014;53(21):3415-3422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/bi500380f</u>. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1021/bi500380f.

76. EP300 E1A binding protein p300 [homo sapiens (human)] - gene - NCBI. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene/2033. Accessed Jan 25, 2023.

77. Chrivia JC, Kwok RPS, Lamb N, Hagiwara M, Montminy MR, Goodman RH.
Phosphorylated CREB binds specifically to the nuclear protein CBP. *Nature*.
1993;365(6449):855-859. <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/365855a0.</u> Accessed Jan 29, 2023.
doi: 10.1038/365855a0.

78. Heery DM, Fischer PM. Pharmacological targeting of lysine acetyltransferases in human disease: A progress report. *Drug Discov Today*. 2007;12(1-2):88-99. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2006.11.012.

79. Ogryzko V, Schiltz L, Russanova V, Howard B, Nakatani Y. The transcriptional coactivators p300 and CBP are histone acetyltransferases - ScienceDirect. 1996:953-959. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0092867400820012. Accessed Jan 25, 2023.

80. Bannister AJ, Kouzarides T. The CBP co-activator is a histone acetyltransferase. *Nature*.
1996;384(6610):641-643. <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/384641a0</u>. Accessed Jan 25, 2023.
doi: 10.1038/384641a0.

81. Henry RA, Kuo Y, Andrews AJ. Differences in specificity and selectivity between CBP and p300 acetylation of histone H3 and H3/H4. *Biochemistry*. 2013;52(34):5746-5759. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1021/bi400684q.

82. Yang X, Seto E. Lysine acetylation: Codified crosstalk with other posttranslational modifications. *Molecular Cell*. 2008;31(4):449-461. <u>https://www.cell.com/molecular-cell/abstract/S1097-2765(08)00457-7</u>. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi:

10.1016/j.molcel.2008.07.002.

83. Bedford DC, Brindle PK. Is histone acetylation the most important physiological function for CBP and p300? *Aging (Albany NY)*. 2012;4(4):247-255. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.18632/aging.100453.

84. Delvecchio M, Gaucher J, Aguilar-Gurrieri C, Ortega E, Panne D. Structure of the p300 catalytic core and implications for chromatin targeting and HAT regulation. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*. 2013;20(9):1040-1046. <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/nsmb.2642.</u> Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.2642.

85. McCullough CE, Marmorstein R. Molecular basis for histone acetyltransferase regulation by binding partners, associated domains, and autoacetylation. *ACS Chem Biol*. 2016;11(3):632-642. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.5b00841. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi:

10.1021/acschembio.5b00841.

86. Thompson PR, Wang D, Wang L, et al. Regulation of the p300 HAT domain via a novel activation loop. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*. 2004;11(4):308-315. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1038/nsmb740.

87. Karanam B, Wang L, Wang D, et al. Multiple roles for acetylation in the interaction of p300
HAT with ATF-2. *Biochemistry*. 2007;46(28):8207-8216. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi:
10.1021/bi7000054.

Liu X, Wang L, Zhao K, et al. The structural basis of protein acetylation by the p300/CBP transcriptional coactivator. *Nature*. 2008;451(7180):846-850. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1038/nature06546.

89. Drazic A, Myklebust LM, Ree R, Arnesen T. The world of protein acetylation. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2016;1864(10):1372-1401. Accessed Aug 17, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2016.06.007.

90. Mendjan S, Taipale M, Kind J, et al. Nuclear pore components are involved in the transcriptional regulation of dosage compensation in drosophila. *Mol Cell*. 2006;21(6):811-823. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2006.02.007.

91. Nam Y, Sliz P, Song L, Aster JC, Blacklow SC. Structural basis for cooperativity in recruitment of MAML coactivators to notch transcription complexes. *Cell*. 2006;124(5):973-983. <u>https://www.cell.com/cell/abstract/S0092-8674(06)00122-X.</u> Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.12.037.

92. Mayr B, Montminy M. Transcriptional regulation by the phosphorylation-dependent factor CREB. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*. 2001;2(8):599-609. <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/35085068</u>.
Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1038/35085068.

93. Bourdeau V, Deschênes J, Métivier R, et al. Genome-wide identification of high-affinity estrogen response elements in human and mouse. *Mol Endocrinol*. 2004;18(6):1411-1427.
Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1210/me.2003-0441.

94. Chen Y, Wang Y, Chang W. ERK2-mediated C-terminal serine phosphorylation of p300 is vital to the regulation of epidermal growth factor-induced keratin 16 gene expression. *J Biol Chem.* 2007;282(37):27215-27228. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M700264200.

95. Sheikh-Hamad D, Di Mari J, Suki WN, Safirstein R, Watts BA, Rouse D. p38 kinase activity is essential for osmotic induction of mRNAs for HSP70 and transporter for organic solute betaine in madin-darby canine kidney cells. *J Biol Chem.* 1998;273(3):1832-1837. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.3.1832.

96. Saito H, Posas F. Response to hyperosmotic stress. *Genetics*. 2012;192(2):289-318. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1534/genetics.112.140863.

97. Sakaguchi K, Herrera JE, Saito S, et al. DNA damage activates p53 through a phosphorylation–acetylation cascade. *Genes Dev.* 1998;12(18):2831-2841. http://genesdev.cshlp.org/content/12/18/2831. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1101/gad.12.18.2831.

98. Jang ER, Choi JD, Lee J. Acetyltransferase p300 regulates NBS1-mediated DNA damage response. *FEBS Lett*. 2011;585(1):47-52. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2010.11.034.

99. Iyer NG, Chin S, Ozdag H, et al. p300 regulates p53-dependent apoptosis after DNA damage in colorectal cancer cells by modulation of PUMA/p21 levels. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*.
2004;101(19):7386-7391. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0401002101.

100. Yuan LW, Gambee JE. Phosphorylation of p300 at serine 89 by protein kinase C. *J Biol Chem.* 2000;275(52):40946-40951. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M007832200.

101. Xue Y, Wen H, Shi X. CBP/p300: Intramolecular and intermolecular regulations. *Front Biol.* 2018;13(3):168-179. <u>https://journal.hep.com.cn/fib/EN/10.1007/s11515-018-1502-6.</u>
Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1007/s11515-018-1502-6.

102. Wan W, You Z, Xu Y, et al. mTORC1 phosphorylates acetyltransferase p300 to regulate autophagy and lipogenesis. *Mol Cell*. 2017;68(2):323-335.e6. Accessed Jan 29, 2023. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2017.09.020.

103. Thompson PR, Wang D, Wang L, et al. Regulation of the p300 HAT domain via a novel activation loop. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*. 2004;11(4):308-315.

https://www.nature.com/articles/nsmb740. Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1038/nsmb740.

104. Huang W, Chen C. Akt phosphorylation of p300 at ser-1834 is essential for its histone acetyltransferase and transcriptional activity. *Mol Cell Biol*. 2005;25(15):6592-6602. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1190347/.</u> Accessed Jan 25, 2023. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.15.6592-6602.2005.